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This information document (the "Information Document") has been prepared by CO2 Capsol AS (the 
"Company" or “CO2 Capsol”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) solely for use in connection 
with the admission to trading (the “Admission”) of all issued shares of the Company on Euronext Growth.   
 
As of the date of this Information Document, the Company's registered share capital is NOK 50,582,77 
6divided into 50,582,776 shares, each with a par value of NOK 1 (the "Shares"). The Shares have been 
admitted for trading on Euronext Growth, and it is expected that the Shares will start trading on 20 
December 2021 under the ticker symbol CAPSL. 
 
Euronext Growth is a market operated by Euronext. Companies on Euronext Growth, a multilateral trading 
facility (MTF), are not subject to the same rules as companies on a Regulated Market (a main market). 
Instead they are subject to a less extensive set of rules and regulations adjusted to small growth companies. 
The risk in investing in a company on Euronext Growth may therefore be higher than investing in a company 
on a Regulated Market. Investors should take this into account when making investment decisions. 
 
The present Information Document does not constitute a prospectus within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 
2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be 
published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and 
repealing Directive 2003/71.   
 
The present Information Document has been drawn up under the responsibility of the Company. It has been 
reviewed by the Euronext Growth Advisor and has been subject to an appropriate review of its 
completeness, consistency and comprehensibility by Euronext. 
 
THIS INFORMATION DOCUMENT SERVES AS AN INFORMATION DOCUMENT ONLY, AS REQUIRED BY THE 
EURONEXT GROWTH ADMISSION RULES. THIS INFORMATION DOCUMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUE AN 
OFFER TO BUY, SUBSCRIBE OR SELL ANY OF THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED HEREIN, AND NO SECURITIES ARE 
BEING OFFERED OR SOLD PURSUANT HERETO. 
 
Investing in the Company involves a high degree of risk. Prospective investors should read the entire 
document and, in particular, Section 1 "Risk Factors" and Section 3.2 "Cautionary note regarding forward-
looking statements" when considering an investment in the Company and its Shares. 

 
Euronext Growth Advisor 
Sparebank 1 Markets AS 
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IMPORTANT NOTICE 
 

This Information Document has been prepared solely by the Company, only to provide information about 
the Group and its business and in relation to the Admission. This Information Document has been prepared 
solely in the English language. 
 
For definitions of terms used throughout this Information Document, see Section 11 “Definitions and 
Glossary”. The Company has engaged Sparebank 1 Markets AS (the "Manager") as manager and Euronext 
Growth Advisor in connection with the Private Placement I and Private Placement II (as defined below) and 
the Admission. 
 
This Information Document has been prepared to comply with the Euronext Growth Admission Rules. The 
Information Document does not constitute a prospectus under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and 
related secondary legislation, including Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or 
admitted to trading on a regulated market, and has not been reviewed or approved by any governmental 
authority.  
 
All inquiries relating to this Information Document should be directed to the Company or the Manager. No 
other person has been authorized to give any information, or make any representation, on behalf of the 
Company and/or the Manager in connection with the Admission. If given or made, such other information 
or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company and/or the Manager.  
 
The information contained herein is as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion or amendment 
without notice. There may have been changes affecting the Company subsequent to the date of this 
Information Document. Any new material information and any material inaccuracy that might have an 
effect on the assessment of the Shares arising after the publication of this Information Document and 
before the Admission will be published and announced promptly in accordance with the Euronext Growth 
regulations. Neither the delivery of this Information Document nor the completion of the Admission at any 
time after the date hereof will, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no 
change in the Group’s affairs since the date hereof or that the information set forth in this Information 
Document is correct as of any time since its date.  
 
The contents of this Information Document shall not be construed as legal, business or tax advice. Each 
reader of this Information Document should consult its own legal, business or tax advisor as to legal, 
business or tax advice. If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Information Document, you should 
consult your stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, accountant or other professional adviser.  
The distribution of this Information Document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons in 
possession of this Information Document are required to inform themselves about, and to observe, any 
such restrictions. No action has been taken or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Company that would 
permit the possession or distribution of this Information Document in any country or jurisdiction where 
specific action for that purpose is required.  
 
The Shares may be subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold 
except as permitted under applicable securities laws and regulations. Any failure to comply with these 
restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. Investors should be 
aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of this investment for an indefinite period of 
time.  
 
This Information Document shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. The 
courts of Norway, with Oslo District Court (Norwegian; “Oslo tingrett”) as legal venue, shall have exclusive 
jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may arise out of or in connection with the Information Document.  
 
Investing in the Shares involves risks. See Section 1 “Risk Factors” of this Information Document. 
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ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITES  

 
The Company is a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway. As a result, the 
rights of holders of the Shares will be governed by Norwegian law and the Company's articles of association 
(the "Articles of Association"). The rights of shareholders under Norwegian law may differ from the rights 
of shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions.  
 
None of the members of the Company's board of directors (the "Board of Directors", and each of the 
members thereof, a “Board Member”) and none of the members of the Group's executive management 
(the "Management") are residents of the United States of America (the "United States"), and virtually all 
of the Company's assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for investors 
in the United States to effect service of process on the Company, the Board Members and the Management 
in the United States or to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts against the Company or those persons, 
whether predicated upon civil liability provisions of federal securities laws or other laws of the United 
Stated (including any State or territory within the United States).  
 
The United States and Norway do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and 
enforcement of judgements (other than arbitral awards) in civil and commercial matters. Uncertainty exists 
as to whether courts in Norway will enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions, including the United 
States, against the Company or the Board Members or the Management under the securities laws of those 
jurisdictions or entertain actions in Norway against the Company or the Board Members or the 
Management under the securities laws of other jurisdictions. In addition, awards of punitive damages in 
actions brought in the United States or elsewhere may not be enforceable in Norway.  
 
Similar restrictions may apply in other jurisdictions. 
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1 RISK FACTORS  
Investing in the Shares involves inherent risks. Before making an investment decision, investors should 
carefully consider the risk factors and all information contained in this Information Document, including the 
Financial Information and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described in this Section 1 "Risk factors" 
are the principal known risks and uncertainties faced by the Group as of the date hereof that the Company 
believes are the material risks relevant to an investment in the Shares. An investment in the Shares is suitable 
only for investors who understand the risks associated with this type of investment and who can afford a 
loss of all or part of their investment. The absence of a negative past experience associated with a given risk 
factor does not mean that the risks and uncertainties described herein should not be considered prior to 
making an investment decision.  
 
If any of the risks were to materialize, individually or together with other circumstances, it could have a 
material and adverse effect on the Company and/or its business, financial condition, results of operations, 
cash flow and/or prospects, which may cause a decline in the value of the Shares that could result in a loss 
of all or part of any investment in the Shares. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only 
risks the Company may face.  
 
Additional risks and uncertainties that the Company currently believes are immaterial, or that are currently 
not known to the Company, may also have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flow. The order in which the risks are presented below is not intended to 
provide an indication of the likelihood of their occurrence nor of their severity or significance.  
 
The risk factors described in this Section 1 "Risk factors" are sorted into a limited number of categories, 
where the Company has sought to place each individual risk factor in the most appropriate category based 
on the nature of the risk it represents. The risks that are assumed to be of the greatest significance are 
described first. This does not mean that the remaining risk factors are ranked in order of their materiality or 
comprehensibility, and the fact that a risk factor is not mentioned first in its category does not in any way 
suggest that the risk factor is less important when taking an informed investment decision. The risks 
mentioned herein could materialise individually or cumulatively.  
 
The information in this Section 1 "Risk factors" is as of the date of this Information Document. 

1.1 Risks related to the Group’s business and the industry in which it operates 
 
Risks related to the Company's business, growth and commercialization 
The Company was established in 2014 and has a limited operating history and track record. Accordingly, 
the Company does not have a significant performance history for a potential investor to consider in making 
its decision to invest in the Company. As an early phase industrial company there are inherent risks that the 
Company may not be able to implement its business strategy successfully or manage its growth effectively. 
 
The Company has an ambitious strategy to grow and commercialize its business. No assurance can be given 
that the Company will be able to achieve its strategy, or that the costs related thereto will not be higher, 
potentially substantially, than the levels currently expected by the Company. To effectively manage growth, 
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the Company will be required to continue to expand its managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial, 
product, user experience and technology and other resources, and incur, potentially substantial, 
expenditures in connection therewith. Any failure to manage future growth effectively could have a 
material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and/or 
prospects. 
 
Industry risks 
The Company operates in a competitive and technologically challenging market, which has seen an increase 
in competitiveness in recent years. Only companies with sufficient funding, skilled employees, strong 
technical knowledge, and a clear business strategy are expected to survive and expand in the current 
market.  
 
The Company does not have formal commercial agreements with customers. Although several customers 
have indicated an interest to enter into license agreements, there is also the risk of a lack of demand for 
the product, particularly if the Company fails to deliver on its targeted performance and cost metrics. 
 
The ability of the Company to successfully and timely commercialise its technology and solutions will 
depend on external factors such as: the price of CO2 emission units, customer preferences and willingness 
to adapt to new technology and solutions; the introduction and commercialisation, and timing, of new 
technologies, products and services by others; changes in regulation; and other market conditions. Any 
failure to sufficiently commercialise the Company's technology solutions, in whole or in part, could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's results, financial condition, cash flows and prospects. 
 
The Group is operating in a rapidly changing technological environment.  
The renewable energy sector is developing fast and unexpected positive results may reduce the market 
potential for carbon capture and storage facilities, including the demand for such facilities by the Group’s 
potential client base and governments. This may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business 
and future opportunities.  
 
The carbon capture technology is also under development and there are alternative solutions offered in the 
market. Changes and developments may be driven by competitors of the Group with substantially greater 
resources than those of the Group and the attractiveness of the Group’s solutions relative to other 
providers’ solutions is uncertain, which may lead to the Group being unable to compete with such 
competitors.  
 
The Group’s current technology, and any further technology under development by it, may prove not to be 
commercially viable or efficient, and efforts to respond to technological innovations may require significant 
financial investments and resources. Failure by the Group to respond to changes in technology and 
innovations may render the Group’s operations non-competitive and may have a material, negative effect 
on the Group’s results of operations, financial condition and future prospects.  
 
Inherent technical and product risks 
The Group’s business contains some inherent technical risks, including risks related to the production, on-
site installation and operational performance and reliability of the Company’s products. Although the 
Company is aware of these risks, and have introduced risk mitigating measures, such risks, if materialized, 
may have an adverse impact on the Company's operations, earnings and financial position.  
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There are numerous risks associated with engineering and construction of carbon capture facilities, 
including but not limited to risks of delay and failure to deliver according to the agreed specifications 
(including the performance levels guaranteed), risks of early termination of contracts by customers and 
suppliers, risk of changes to the scope of work and amendments due to design development resulting in 
extension of time and increased cost.  
 
As of the date of this document, the Company has not signed any commercial agreements for the use of its 
patented technology. As such there is no guarantee that the technology the Company intends to license to 
third parties will result in commercial revenues. 
 
If the Group is unable to meet its customers’ requirements under contracts, the customers may terminate 
their contracts or, pursuant to the term of the contracts, require the Group to compensate them for losses. 
In the event that the Group does not satisfy its obligations under such contracts, the Group's business, 
results of operations, financial position, cash flows and/or prospects could be materially adversely affected 
if one or more of long-term customers terminate their contracts with the Group, or if the Group is obligated 
to compensate them for losses. 
 
The Group is dependent on key personnel  
The Group’s development and prospects are dependent upon the continued services and performance of 
its senior management and other key personnel. The loss of the services of any of these individuals could 
delay or prevent the continued successful implementation of its growth strategy, or could otherwise affect 
its ability to manage the Group effectively and to carry out its business plan. Members of the senior 
management team may resign at any time and there can be no assurance that the Group may be able to 
continue to retain such individuals. 
 
Competition for key personnel with the required competences and experience is intense and there is no 
assurance that the Group will be able to recruit the required new key personnel in the future. Any failure 
to retain or attract such personnel could result in the Group not being able to successfully implement its 
business plan which could have a material and adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition 
or results of operations. Furthermore, any failure to effectively integrate new personnel could prevent the 
Group from successfully growing. 
 
The Group may not be able to develop new technology that may be required to expand and/or keep up 
with competitors 
Although the Company's technology is proven in many aspects, the Company is on a continuous basis 
developing its technology and it is expected that further development may be necessary in the future to 
deliver on the Company’s business plan. 
 
Research and development is expensive, time-consuming, and entails considerable uncertainty with respect 
to both achieving positive results and, if successful, the ability to commercially sell products and services 
using such technology. Due to long development processes, changing regulatory requirements, changing 
market conditions and customer preferences and other factors, new variants of existing technologies or 
new technologies may take longer and cost more to develop and may be less successful than the Group 
anticipates. It is expected that an increased target market and customer base will result in increased 
competition, and also attract established industrial companies such as oil companies and other potential 
customers to develop their own carbon capture, utilization and storage (“CCUS”) technologies and solutions, 
which in turn may reduce the potential client base of the Group. Furthermore, the Group may be unable to 
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reduce costs as required to maintain a competitive position. No assurance can be given that any new 
technologies under research and development will be commercially successful. If the Group is unable to 
keep up with competitors, develop new technology or have commercial success with its technology under 
research and development, this could adversely affect the future development on the Group's business, 
financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects.  
 
The Group is subject to general counterparty risk.  
The Group’s customers are to a large degree dependent upon support and funding from governments or 
other non-commercial institutions to realise its projects. Changes in policies or funding may impact the 
customers’ ability go forward with, or complete, existing projects.  
 
The Group is also dependent on other service providers as sub-contractors to execute its projects. The 
Group intends to source e.g. engineering services and fabrication/construction services from third parties 
and such sub-contractors’ ability to perform the required work may have a direct impact on the Group’s 
performance towards its customers. Suppliers within the industry in which the Group operates are limited 
and the Group may not be able to engage technological or commercial suitable sub-contractors or partners 
to secure contracts and execute the business as anticipated. Should any of these circumstances occur, it 
may have an adverse effect on the Group’s projects and affect the financial performance of the Group 
negatively.  
 
Risks relating to government or other non-commercial funding, licenses, governmental approvals and 
various public policies.  
 
Realisation of carbon capture projects is expensive and with limited prospect for short term profit. 
Investments will to a large extent be dependent upon government support and funding, and a regulatory 
framework which provides for incentives for the industries to invest in CCUS initiatives. In the long-term 
CCUS must be commercially attractive and cannot rely on governmental support. 
 
The policies for government incentives are still under development and vary in the jurisdictions in which 
the Group intends to operate. Changes in the relevant authorities’ policies and willingness to fund CCUS 
projects may, until the CCUS business becomes commercially viable on its own, be critical to the Group’s 
ability to attract clients and execute its business plan.  
 
The Group is subject to a wide variety of laws and regulations and may be dependent on governmental 
licenses and approvals to commence and continue its operations. There is a risk that the Group will not 
obtain the necessary licences or approvals, or that obtaining such licenses or approvals will require 
significant resources from the Group that in turn may have a negative effect on the Group’s financial 
position, operations and results. Furthermore, there is a risk that the relevant governments may change 
the requirements for obtaining such licenses, rendering it more expensive, difficult or even impossible for 
the Group or the Group’s potential clients to obtain the necessary licenses. 
 
The Group is exposed to risks relating to the availability of certain goods and materials 
The Group's supply chain is primarily handled through supplier contracts and its operations are highly 
dependent on the availability and quality of certain materials, parts and components used in its technology. 
The financial performance of the Group's operating units therefore relies on effective supply chain 
management in the way that the Group must maintain continuity of supply of critical components and 
adapt and develop alternative supply arrangements as needed. If the Group does not gain access to 
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necessary materials, parts and components from its external suppliers, there is a risk that the Group may 
not be able to meet the expected growth and realize its backlog and pipeline. In particular, the Group's 
business is dependent on hot potassium carbonate for its offered carbon capture solutions. High demand 
for such materials, or other relevant goods, may result in increased costs or delayed deliveries, meaning a 
risk of lower margins and potential penalty payments or termination of contract. 
 
Risk relating to cyber security 
The Group makes use of information technology systems and network where amongst others information 
about customers and employees may be stored. Failure to maintain proper and sufficient cyber security will 
lead to such information becoming vulnerable to cyber-attacks, and may lead to such information becoming 
known to others. For loss of information regarding employees or clients, this may further lead to claims 
against the Group for improper handling and protection of such information.  
 
The Group's third-party service providers and other vendors have access to certain portions of the Group's 
information technologies system. Certain failure or negligence of these service providers may cause 
material disruptions in the Group's operations, which could affect the Group's ability to perform in a timely 
manner.  
 
The outbreak of the corona virus (COVID-19) could have a material adverse effect on the Company.  
The outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in a global pandemic and has severely impacted companies and 
markets globally. It is currently not possible to predict the consequences for the Company, its customers, 
suppliers or business partners.  
 
The coronavirus may affect the overall performance of the Group, including the Group's ability to develop 
its products and services and implement its business plan and contractors’ ability to provide goods and 
services required for the Group’s projects at the agreed terms, or at all. This may result in delays, additional 
costs and liabilities, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Group's results, financial 
condition, cash flows and prospects. 
 
Any future outbreak of COVID-19 is beyond the Group’s control and there is no assurance that any future 
outbreak of COVID-19 or other contagious diseases occurring in areas in which the Group or its suppliers, 
partners or customers operate, will not seriously interrupt the Group’s business.  
 
Financial statements for 2019 and 2020 (prepared in accordance with NRS 8) are unconsolidated and 
unaudited 
The Company has reported its annual statements for 2019 and 2020 (the “Annual Financial Statements”) 
in accordance with NRS 8 for “Small enterprises” (Norwegian; “Øvrige foretak”), as the Company currently 
is classified as a "small enterprise" as defined by the Norwegian Accounting Act section 1-6. NRS 8 
(“Norwegian Accounting Standard 8”, Norwegian; “Norsk Regnskaps Standard 8”) is not intended to be used 
for listed companies, and NRS 8 has been applied by the Company historically due to its low activity. Had 
the 2019 and 2020 financial statements been prepared in accordance with NGAAP for “Other companies” 
(Norwegian; “ Øvrige foretak”), the Annual Financial Statements may have reflected other costs and a 
different financial position. The Annual Financial Statements are also not consolidated, as the Company has 
not been under a requirement to prepare consolidated figures. The Company has further not been under a 
requirement to audit the Annual Financial Statements. As such investors should not place any undue 
emphasis on the Annual Financial Statements, and are referred to Section 7 “Financial Information” for 
further information on the Company’s financial position. 
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1.2 Legal and regulatory risks 
 
Risk related to government regulations  
The authorities in the jurisdictions where the Group operates may introduce further regulations for the 
operations of production facilities which may negatively impact the Company directly or through its 
customers. 
 
Risk related to the protection of proprietary technology (IPR) 
The future business of the Group is dependent upon its proprietary technology and its ability to protect its 
intellectual property. This technology is based on a combination of patents, confidential know-how, 
proprietary methods, non-disclosure and other contractual provisions.  
 
There can be no assurance that the Company’s efforts to implement protective measures and defend its 
proprietary technology and intellectual property rights will be sufficient. If certain information is made 
known in public, this may cause significant harm to the business of the Company. 
 
The extent of the Group's intellectual property rights may vary in different countries, and filing, prosecuting, 
maintaining and defending the Group's patents throughout the world could be highly expensive. 
Consequently, the Group may be unable to prevent third parties from using its inventions in certain 
countries, especially in jurisdictions offering no or little protection of intellectual property rights, or in 
jurisdictions where enforcement may be difficult. Competitors could potentially also use the Group’s 
technology in jurisdictions where the Group has not obtained patent protection. 
 
The Group's success and business plan is tied to its ability to protect its intellectual property rights and 
know-how, as set out above. This will require the Group to obtain and maintain patent protection for its 
technologies, to preserve trade secrets and to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of third 
parties. Filed patent applications may fail to be granted which may cause the Group’s offerings to be 
reduced or copied, which in turn may weaken the Group’s competitive standing and market reception. 
When granted, patents may also be challenged by competitors and be declared invalid.   
 
Even though the Group has made substantial efforts to enforce its intellectual property, there is also a risk 
that third parties, such as employees and consultants, may claim that the Company does not have rights or 
exclusive rights to the intellectual property it uses. The Group may as a consequence of this be a party to 
litigation to determine the scope and validity of its intellectual property, which, if resolved adversely to the 
Group, could invalidate or render unenforceable its intellectual property or generally preclude the Group 
from using such intellectual property, or the Group could be forced to pay substantial royalties. A successful 
claim of infringement against the Group, or its failure or inability to develop non-infringing technology or 
license the infringed technology could materially and adversely affect its business and results of operations, 
and/or prospects. 
 
If the Group’s proprietary methods, know-how etc. becomes known to the public, or third-parties develop 
similar technology, or the patents are held to be invalid, this could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group, its financial position and future prospects. 
 
The Group may be party to various claims, legal proceedings or disputes, including class action lawsuits  
There are currently no claims, legal proceedings or disputes where the Group is involved, but the nature of 
the business exposes the Group to the risk of claims, legal proceedings and disputes (including litigation, 
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arbitration and administrative procedures) with customers, contractors and suppliers, governments, as well 
as disputes over claims in relation to personal injury, environmental issues, intellectual property rights, tax 
matters, securities matters, labour and employment matters, unionising and collective action, 
discrimination matters, payments, privacy and personal data, data security issues, competition and anti-
trust issues. The Group cannot predict with certainty the outcome or effect of any future claim or other 
litigation matters or disputes.  
 
Any litigation or dispute may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position, 
results of operations, cash flows and/or prospects due to potential negative outcomes, the costs associated 
with prosecuting or defending such lawsuits, and the diversion of management's attention to these matters. 
Any claims against the Group could result in professional liability, product liability, criminal liability, 
warranty obligations, and other liabilities which, to the extent the Group is not insured, or cannot insure, 
against a loss or the insurer may fail to provide coverage, which could have a material adverse impact on 
the business, results of operation, financial condition, cash flows and/or prospects of the Group. The Group 
may make provisions to cover expected outcome of proceedings and disputes to the extent that negative 
outcomes are likely and reliable estimates can be made, but the final outcome of these and other cases 
may be subject to uncertainties and resulting liabilities which may exceed booked provisions.  
 
Risk relating to data protection and privacy regulations 
The Group’s business requires the processing and storage of personal data relating to its customers, 
employees and others and is therefore subject to complex data protection laws and regulations. The EU 
General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR") introduces new obligations on data controllers and rights for 
data subjects. GDPR also introduces new fines and penalties for a breach of requirements, including fines 
for serious breaches of up to the higher of 4% of annual worldwide turnover or EUR 20 million and fines up 
to the higher of 2% of annual worldwide turnover or EUR 10 million for other specified infringements. The 
Group seeks to comply with data protection laws and regulations. Ensuring compliance with data protection 
laws and regulations is an ongoing process which involves substantial costs, and the Group may be required 
to implement additional measures in the future to facilitate compliance. Despite the Group’s efforts, it is 
possible that governmental authorities or third parties will assert that the Group’s business practices fail to 
comply with data protection laws and regulations. If its operations are found to be in violation of any of 
such laws and regulations, the Group may be subject to civil, criminal and administrative liabilities, as well 
as reputational harm, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or 
results of operations. 
 
The Company is in the process of updating and improving its GDPR procedures and documents, which 
currently may not be fully compliant with applicable rules. 
 
Risk of violations of anti-corruption laws  
The Group's business operations and sales are subject to anti-corruption laws in multiple jurisdictions, 
which among other things prohibits improper payments and require the Group to keep accurate books and 
records as well as appropriate internal controls. Any violations may incur civil and criminal penalties or 
other sanctions, or make the Group suffer significant internal investigation costs or reputational harm, 
which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of 
operations, reputation and/or prospects.  
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1.3 Risks related to the Company’s financial situation  
 
Financing and liquidity risk  
The Group is in an early phase and is unprofitable.  
To the extent the Group does not generate sufficient cash from operations, the Group may need to raise 
additional funds through debt or additional equity financings to execute the Group's growth strategy and 
to fund capital expenditures. Adequate sources of capital funding may not be available when needed or 
may not be available on favorable terms. The Group's ability to obtain such additional capital or financing 
will depend in part upon prevailing market conditions as well as conditions of its business and its operating 
results, and those factors may affect its efforts to arrange additional financing on satisfactory terms. If the 
Group raises additional funds by issuing additional shares or other equity or equity-linked securities, it may 
result in a dilution of the holdings of existing shareholders.  
  
Should the Group pursue debt financing, such financing may increase financing costs and reduce the 
Group's potential profitability. If the Group becomes unable to service its debt when due, there will be a 
default under the terms of these agreements, which could result in an acceleration of repayment of funds 
that have been borrowed and have a material adverse effect on the Group's results of operation, cash flow, 
financial condition and/or prospects and in worst case lead to a insolvency.  
 
The Group may in the future take on debt which could limit the Group’s cash flow and operational 
flexibility 
The Company does not currently have any debt, but it is likely that going forward it will have to take on 
debt to secure working capital and operations. This may require the Company to agree to restrictions and 
limitations on the Company's business operations and capital structure. This may require the Group to 
agree to restrictions and limitations on the Group's business operations and capital structure, to force the 
Group to dispose of current long-term assets or to issue additional equity, possibly on unfavourable terms, 
increase the Group's vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions, limit the Group's flexibility 
to make, or react to, changes in the business and industry, and/or place the Group at a competitive 
disadvantage. Furthermore, should the Group take on debt in the future, any fluctuations in the interest 
rates may affect the Group’s interest costs, which in turn may reduce its cash flows and ability to make 
distributions to shareholders.  
 
If the Group enters into any debt financing, the Group may have to comply with a number of financial and 
other covenants and clauses, including change of control provisions, cross default provisions and 
performance requirements, which could affect the operational and financial flexibility of the Group. Such 
restrictions could affect, and in many respects limit or prohibit, among other things, the Group’s ability to 
pay dividends, create liens, sell assets, or engage in mergers or acquisitions. In addition, covenants under 
debt instruments may pledge the Group's assets as collateral and any negative pledge with respect to the 
Group's intellectual property could limit its ability to obtain additional debt financing on acceptable and/or 
commercially reasonable terms, or even at all. Any breach of covenants could result in defaults under 
instruments governing applicable indebtedness and cross-default provisions could be triggered in the event 
of default on other indebtedness and may require the Group to repay or restructure indebtedness. Failure 
to make payments or comply with any covenants under future debt instruments could result in an event of 
default and acceleration of amounts due, and could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 
operations, assets and/or prospects.  
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Risks relating to fluctuations in exchange rates  
The Company’s reporting currency is NOK. The Group receives income and accrues expenses in foreign 
currencies. The Group is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk with respect to the value of the NOK 
against other currencies and changes in rates of exchange may have an adverse effect on the Group’s results 
of operations, financial position and/or cash flows.  

1.4 Risks related to the Shares  
 
Future issuances of Shares or other securities could dilute the holdings of shareholders and could 
materially affect the price of the Shares 
The Group is an early phase and future development of the Group is expected to be funded by equity, 
including by issuing additional shares or other equity securities. Depending on the structure of any future 
fund raising, existing shareholders may not be able to purchase or subscribe for additional equity securities. 
If the Group raises additional funds by issuing additional shares or other equity securities, the relative 
holdings and voting interests and the financial interests of existing shareholders may be diluted and such 
future equity raisings could materially affect the market price of the Share. 
 
As described in Section 9.7 "Financial instruments", the Company has outstanding subscription rights which, 
if exercised in full, will have a dilutive effect of approximately 15.7%. 
 
The market price of the Shares may be volatile  
An investment in the Shares involves risk of loss of capital, and securities markets in general have been 
volatile in the past. The market price of the Shares could be subject to significant fluctuations in response 
to actual or anticipated variations in the Group's operating results and those of its competitors, adverse 
business developments, changes to the regulatory environment in which the Group operates, changes in 
financial estimates by securities analysts and the actual or expected sale of a large number of Shares, as 
well as other factors. 
 
The Company will incur increased costs as a result of being listed on Euronext Growth 
As a publicly traded company with its Shares listed on Euronext Growth, the Company will be required to 
comply with Oslo Børs ASA' reporting and disclosure requirements for companies listed on Euronext Growth. 
The Company will incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in order to ensure compliance with 
these and other applicable rules and regulations. The Company anticipates that its incremental general and 
administrative expenses as a company with its shares listed on Euronext Growth will include, among other 
things, costs associated with annual and interim reports to shareholders, shareholders' meetings, investor 
relations, incremental director and officer liability insurance costs and officer and director compensation. 
In addition, the Board of Directors and management may be required to devote significant time and effort 
to ensure compliance with applicable rules and regulations for companies with its shares listed on Euronext 
Growth, which may entail that less time and effort can be devoted to other aspects of the business. Any 
such increased costs, individually or in the aggregate, could have an adverse effect on the Company's 
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.  
  
There is no existing market for the Shares, and a trading market that provides adequate liquidity may not 
develop 
Prior to the Admission there is no public market for the Shares, and there can be no assurance that an active 
trading market will develop or be sustained. The market value of the Shares could be substantially affected 
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by the extent to which a secondary market develops for the Shares following the completion of the 
Admission. 
 
The Company does not expect to pay dividends in the near future 
Norwegian law provides that any declaration of dividends must be adopted by the Company’s shareholders 
at the Company’s general meeting of shareholders. Dividends may only be declared to the extent that the 
Company has distributable funds and the Company’s Board of Directors finds such a declaration to be 
prudent in consideration of the size, nature, scope and risks associated with the Company’s operations and 
the need to strengthen its liquidity and financial position.  
 
The Company is in a commercialization and growth phase and does not expect to pay dividends in near 
future. Beyond the growth phase, it is the Company’s ambition to provide its shareholders with a 
competitive return on investment over time, in terms of dividend and development in the share price. There 
can, however, be no assurance that in any given year a dividend will be proposed or declared, or if proposed 
or declared, that the dividend will be as contemplated by the policy. The payment of future dividends will 
depend on legal restrictions, the Company's capital requirements, including capital expenditure 
requirements, its financial condition, general business conditions and any restrictions that its borrowing 
arrangements or other contractual arrangements in place at the time of the dividend may place on its ability 
to pay dividends and the maintaining of appropriate financial flexibility. 
 
Investors may not be able to exercise their voting rights for Shares registered in a nominee account 
Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account (such as through brokers, dealers 
or other third parties) could be unable to vote for such Shares unless their ownership is re-registered in 
their names with the VPS prior to any general meeting in the Company. There is no assurance that beneficial 
owners of the Shares will receive the notice of any general meeting in the Company in time to instruct their 
nominees to either effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares in the manner 
desired by such beneficial owners. 
 
Shareholders’ ability to bring an action against the Company may be limited by Norwegian law 
The shareholders’ rights are governed by Norwegian law and by the Company's Articles of Association. Such 
rights may differ from the rights of shareholders in other jurisdictions. In particular, Norwegian law limits 
the circumstances under which shareholders of Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. Under 
Norwegian law, any action brought by the Company in respect of wrongful acts committed against the 
Company will be prioritised over actions brought by shareholders claiming compensation in respect of such 
acts. In addition, it could be difficult to prevail in a claim against the Company under, or to enforce liabilities 
predicated upon, securities laws in other jurisdictions.  
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Investors may have difficulty enforcing any judgment obtained in the United States against the Company 
or its directors or officers in Norway.  
The Company is incorporated under the laws of Norway and all of its current directors and executive officers 
reside outside the United States. Furthermore, most of the Company's assets and most of the assets of the 
Company’s directors and executive officers are located outside the United States. As a result, investors may 
be unable to effect service of process on the Company or its directors and executive officers or enforce 
judgments obtained in the United States courts against the Company or such persons in the United States, 
including judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United 
States. The United States and Norway do currently not have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition 
and enforcement of judgments (other than arbitral awards) in civil and commercial matters. 
 
Pre-emptive rights to subscribe for Shares in additional issuances could be unavailable to U.S. or other 
shareholders 
The Shares have not been registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) or any US state 
securities laws or any other jurisdiction outside of Norway and are not expected to be registered in the 
future. As such, the Shares may not be offered or sold except unless an exemption from the applicable 
registration requirement under US law is available. In addition, shareholders residing or domiciled in the US 
may not be able to participate in future capital increases, rights offerings or other issuances of securities by 
the Company and as such have their shareholdings diluted, or not be able to receive economic benefits 
related to the Shares. 
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2 RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 
This Information Document has been prepared solely in connection with the Admission.  
 
We declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the information provided in the Information Document is 
fair and accurate and that, to the best of our knowledge, the Information Document is not subject to any 
material omissions, and that all relevant information is included in the Information Document. 
 

17 December 2021 
 

The Board of Directors of CO2 Capsol AS 
 

 
Endre Ording Sund Claes Oskar Nygren 

(Chairperson) (Board member) 

 
Einar Christen Lange John Arne Ulvan 

(Board member) (Board member) 

 
Monika Inde Zsak
(Board member)
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3 GENERAL INFORMATION  

3.1 Other important investor information 
The Company has furnished the information in this Information Document. No representation or warranty, 
express or implied, is made by the Euronext Growth Advisor as to the accuracy, completeness or verification 
of the information set forth herein, and nothing contained in this Information Document is, or shall be relied 
upon as a promise or representation in this respect, whether as to the past or the future. The Euronext 
Growth Advisor assumes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness or the verification of this 
Information Document and accordingly disclaim, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and 
all liability whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise which they might otherwise be found to have in 
respect of this Information Document or any such statement. 
 
Neither the Company nor the Euronext Growth Advisor, or any of their respective affiliates, representatives, 
advisors or selling agents, is making any representation to any purchaser of the Shares regarding the legality 
of an investment in the Shares. Each investor should consult with his or her own advisors as to the legal, 
tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Shares. 

3.2 Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements  
This Information Document includes forward-looking statements that reflect the Company’s current views 
with respect to future events and financial and operational performance; including, but not limited to, 
statements relating to the risks specific to the Company's business, future earnings, the ability to distribute 
dividends, the solution to contractual disagreements with counterparties, the implementation of strategic 
initiatives as well as other statements relating to the Company's future business development and 
economic performance. These Forward-looking Statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking 
terminology; including the terms “assumes”, “projects”, “forecasts”, “estimates”, “expects”, “anticipates”, 
“believes”, “plans”, “intends”, “may”, “might”, “will”, “would”, “can”, “could”, “should” or, in each case, 
their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking Statements are not 
historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this Information Document; Section 5 
“Business Overview” and Section 8 “Dividend and Dividend Policy” and include statements regarding the 
Company's intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, goals, objectives, 
financial condition and results of operations, liquidity, outlook and prospects, growth, strategies, impact of 
regulatory initiatives, capital resources and capital expenditure and dividend targets, and the industry 
trends and developments in the markets in which the Group operates.  
 
Prospective investors in the Shares are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of 
future performance and that the Company's actual financial position, operating results and liquidity, and 
the development of the industry in which the Company operates may differ materially from those contained 
in or suggested by the forward-looking statements contained in this Information Document. The Company 
cannot guarantee that the intentions, beliefs or current expectations that these forward-looking statements 
are based will occur.  
 
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve and are subject to known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not 
occur in the future. Because of these known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the 
outcome may differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking statements. Should one or more 
of these risks and uncertainties materialise, or should any underlying assumption prove to be incorrect, the 
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Company's business, actual financial condition, cash flows or results of operations could differ materially 
from that described herein as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected.  
 
The information contained in this Information Document, including the information set out under Section 
1 "Risk Factors", identifies additional factors that could affect the Company's financial position, operating 
results, liquidity and performance. Prospective investors in the Shares are urged to read all sections of this 
Information Document and, in particular, Section 1 "Risk Factors" for a more complete discussion of the 
factors that could affect the Company's future performance and the industry in which the Company 
operates when considering an investment in the Shares.  
 
The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking statement, 
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral 
forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or to persons acting on the behalf of the Company 
are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred to above and contained 
elsewhere in this Information Document. 

3.3 Presentation of industry data and other information 
 
Sources of industry and market data  
To the extent not otherwise indicated, the information contained in this Information Document on the 
market environment, market developments, growth rates, market trends, market positions, industry trends, 
competition in the industry in which the Company operates and similar information are estimates based on 
data compiled by professional organisations, consultants and analysts; in addition to market data from 
other external and publicly available sources as well as the Company's knowledge of the markets. While the 
Company has compiled, extracted and reproduced such market and other industry data from external 
sources, the Company has not independently verified the correctness of such data. Thus, the Company 
takes no responsibility for the correctness of such data. The Company cautions prospective investors not to 
place undue reliance on the above mentioned data. Although the industry and market data is inherently 
imprecise, the Company confirms that where information has been sourced from a third party, such 
information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain 
from information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the 
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Where information sourced from third parties has been 
presented, the source of such information has been identified. In addition, although the Company believes 
its internal estimates to be reasonable, such estimates have not been verified by any independent sources 
and the Company cannot assure prospective investors as to their accuracy or that a third party using 
different methods to assemble, analyse or compute market data would obtain the same results. The 
Company does not intend to or assume any obligations to update industry or market data set forth in this 
Information Document. Finally, behaviour, preferences and trends in the marketplace tend to change. As a 
result, prospective investors should be aware that data in this Information Document and estimates based 
on those data may not be reliable indicators of future results.  
 
Other information  
In this Information Document, all references to “NOK” are to the lawful currency of Norway, all references 
to “EUR” or “€” are to the lawful currency of the EU and all references to “U.S. dollar”, “US$”, “USD”, or “$” 
are to the lawful currency of the United States. In this Information Document all references to “EU” are to 
the European Union and its member states as of the date of this Information Document; all references to 
“EEA” are to the European Economic Area and its member states as of the date of this Information 
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Document; and all references to “US”, “U.S.” or “United States” are to the United States of America. Certain 
figures included in this Information Document have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, 
figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly. 
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4 OBJECTIVES OF THE ADMISSION  
The main objectives of the Admission are to: 
 

• enhance the Company's profile with investors, business partners, suppliers and customers; 
 

• improve the Company’s access to equity capital to enable the Company to develop and respond 
to attractive opportunities; 
 

• make the Shares more accessible to the investor community by achieving admission to a trading 
platform, and facilitate a transparent and liquid market for the Shares; and 

 
• further improve the ability of the Group to attract and retain key management and employees. 

 
No equity capital or proceeds will be raised by the Company upon the Admission, but the Company has 
completed the Private Placement I and the Private Placement II prior to the Admission, as further 
described in Section 9.3 below.  
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5 BUSINESS OVERVIEW  
This Section 5 provides an overview of the Company's business as of the date of this Information Document 
and contains forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's plans and estimates; see Section 3.2 
"Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements" above. You are advised to read this Section 5 in 
conjunction with other parts of this Information Document, in particular Section 1 "Risk factors". 

5.1 Introduction  
CO2 Capsol works to develop technical solutions together with clients and contractors to remove CO2 from 
industrial plants, incineration plants, power plants, and any other plants with large carbon dioxide 
emissions. The Company offers solutions for large scale CO2 capture to power plants, Waste to Energy 
(“WtE”) plants and industrial plants based on the Capsol End of Pipe (“Capsol EoP”) solution. The solution 
is a cost-effective, scalable and flexible retrofit physical unit that can be used to capture carbon dioxide 
from power plants and industrial facilities, i.e. from stationary point sources of CO2.  
 
The Company’s products, technology and solutions within the field of carbon capture are based on the 
Capsol EoP patented technology and the Company is one of few in the market that offers industrial solutions 
for carbon capturing based on well-proven technology.  
 
Carbon capturing forms part of the carbon capture, utilization and storage (“CCUS”) value chain, being the 
process of capturing CO2 from power plants, industrial facilities, and large-scale emitters, for use or storage, 
thus preventing the captured carbon dioxide from being released into the atmosphere. The CCUS value 
chain is essential in limiting the increase in global average temperature. 
 
The Company was established in 2014 and is headquartered in Oslo, Norway.  

5.2 History and important events 
The table below provides an overview of key events in the history of the Company: 
 

Date Event 

2003 Conceptual idea and preparation of first patent by Sargas AS. Started to adapt the 
conventional Hot Potassium Process to carbon dioxide capture

2008 Completed a successful test at the Värtan power plant in Stockholm, Sweden 

2008-2014 Sargas AS filed a series of patents related to the HPC technology

2014 Establishment of CO2 Capsol AS and acquisition of HPC technology patent portfolio from 
Sargas AS

2015 Filed the Core Patent, Method and plant for CO2 capture 

2019 Selected as preferred capture solution for Stockholm biomass power plant pilot 

2021 NOK 25,000,000 private placement in January 2021 
 
Employed 5 new employees 
 
NOK 55,000,000 private placement in October 2021  
 
MoU signed with Petrofac Facilities Management Limited 
 
LOI signed with Norske Skog Sagbrugs AS 
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5.3 Principal activities 

5.3.1 Business overview  
The Company offers the Capsol EoP carbon capture solution to remove carbon dioxide from gas mixtures 
under high pressure, also called carbon scrubbing. The Capsol EoP solution is a cost-effective, scalable and 
flexible retrofit unit used to capture carbon dioxide from power plants and industrial facilities. Capsol EoP 
is a patented post combustion carbon capture technology utilizing the safe and environmentally friendly 
solvent Hot Potassium Carbonate (“HPC”). 
 
The Capsol EoP solution is a proprietary technology developed by the Company. The Company acquired a 
patent portfolio related to HPC technology of the bankruptcy estate of Sargas AS in 2015.  The technology 
is considered safe and environmentally friendly and has been demonstrated on site in three successful pilot 
projects. Furthermore, the technology is considered refined and well-documented and achieves a 
Technology Readiness Level1 (“TRL”) of TRL 9 for syngas projects and TRL 8 for power plants, incineration 
plants, WtE and industrial facilities. The TRL spans over nine levels from 1 to 9, where TRL 9 represents 
technology in its final form, operated under the full range of operating mission conditions.   
 
The Capsol EoP solution is flexible and can be optimized in a number of ways to adapt the technology to 
final plant requirements. The solution may be applied by wide range of large-scale emitters like cement, 
steel, biomass, power production, process and chemical industry, Waste-to-Energy, LNG and hydrogen.  
 
The Company will seek to work as an enabler and technology provider in carbon capture projects together 
with engineering, procurement construction (“EPC”) contractors and/or owners of power plants or 
industrial facilities. Once the Capsol EoP capture unit is installed, the operator of the power plant or 
industrial facility will in most cases be responsible for the operation of the capture unit. Furthermore, the 
owner of the power plant or industrial facility will be responsible for the captured CO2 and is free to decide 
whether to utilize the CO2 as a component in other industrial processes or for enhanced oil recovery (CO2-
EOR), or transport the CO2 to a geologically safe long term storage. 
 
CO2 Capsol is currently working on a number of projects, as set out in section 5.3.4 “Key Projects” below. 
 
CO2 Capsol has on 25 August 2021 signed a non-exclusive agreement with one of the leading international 
service providers to the energy industry, Petrofac, which enables collaboration on different carbon capture 
projects (including the Company’s project in Sweden – see section 5.3.4). Petrofac will operate as a 
preferred engineering service partner to support CO2 Capsol’s carbon capture opportunities across the UK, 
Europe and over time, globally. Both parties will bring together their combined expertise and capabilities, 
with Petrofac providing established engineering and project delivery expertise, and CO2 Capsol providing 
carbon capture technology.  
 
Furthermore, on 18 October 2021 the Company signed an MoU on cooperation with WOIMA Finland Oy, a 
developer and supplier of the innovative wasteWOIMA® Waste-to-Energy power plants. The focus of the 
cooperation lies in the development and supply of small-scale modular carbon capture solutions primarily 
in connection with the wasteWOIMA® Waste-to-Energy power plant deliveries, or to existing CO2-
generating processes. 

 
1 TRL is widely used in industry to define the maturity of a technology or components of a system. There is no 
body that governs TRL levels, they are defined by how the technology is applied today. TRL 8 = System 
complete and qualified, TRL 9 = Actual system proven in operational environment. 
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All statements on technology performance represent the management of the Company’s view and are 
based on internal and external expertise and assessments. 

5.3.2 The Capsol EoP solution   
The Capsol EoP solution is a patented post combustion carbon capture technology utilizing the safe and 
environmentally friendly solvent HPC. The chemical mixture used in the HPC process is based on potassium 
carbonate dissolved in water, together with a chemical activator, and a corrosion inhibitor, to decrease the 
corrosion rate of the material that comes into contact with the fluid. 
 
A pressurized system is essential in the process, 
since chemical reactions are more efficient under 
high pressure. When the pressure increase, the 
molecules have less space in which they can 
move, which leads to a higher density of 
molecules, which in turn increases the number of 
collisions and speeds up the reaction time.  
 
The solution utilizes patented technology for the 
recirculation of heat that maximizes efficiency of 
the absorption/desorption process in conjunction 
with HPC.  
 
The capture unit itself is powered by electricity only, and there is thus no need to invest in steam production 
to run the capture unit. However, it is possible to integrate the unit with process steam from the mother 
plant if available to further improve economics.  
 
The Capsol EoP carbon capture solution has a capture capacity of 2.5 million tonnes of CO2 per year. The 
critical component is the compressor capacity. For compressors with a capacity of 450 kg/s, a CO2 content 
of 18-20% in the flue gas and annual operating time of 8 000 hours gives a capture capacity of 2.5 million 
tonnes of CO2. The Capsol EoP solution is easily scalable with multiple units for larger projects. 
 
The captured CO2 has very low oxygen content and is totally free of degraded (potentially carcinogenic) 
amines and is suitable for technical use. In addition, the Capsol EoP solution absorb impurities such as SO2, 
NOx and mercury from the flue gas, resulting in near-zero emissions. 



25 
 

 

 
The Capsol EoP solution offers several advantages:   
 
 Cost competitive; Low energy consumption due to patented energy recuperation. 

 
 Proven technology; Using HPC as an absorbent of CO2 is used in thousands of plants. 

 
 Safe HPC solvent; Capsol EoP carbon capture solution is a non-toxic process. No hazard to 

environment or people. Low cost and readily available. 
 
 Electricity or steam; Powered by electricity only or a combination of electricity and steam. 

 
 Standalone unit; Easy to install. The capture unit does not interfere with the parent plant.  

 
 Flexible and Scalable; A single unit can capture 2.5 million tons CO2/year and easily scalable with 

multiple units for larger projects. 
 
 Inexpensive absorbent; HPC is significantly more cost effective than amines. 

 
 No downtime; No interference with operation or production during installation and commissioning. 

 
All of these factors result in lower cost (CAPEX and OPEX), reduced risk and short lead time. 

5.3.3 Strategy and vision  
The Company’s main strategy will be to act as a technology provider, licensing out its patent protected 
technology to carbon capture projects globally. The Company will partner with EPCs for carbon capture 
projects where CO2 Capsol will provide the technology, while the EPC is responsible for the engineering, 
procurement, construction and project management related to setting up carbon capture facilities. 
 
This will enable CO2 Capsol to leverage its technology on a global scale and rapidly grow the number of 
projects the Company is involved in while having a limited risk exposure and costs related to each project.  
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The Company’s revenue will be generated through a license fee, either as a percentage of the capital 
expenditures related to the carbon capture facility, or a nominal amount per ton CO2 Captured as a 
recurring revenue stream. The revenue model will be subject to negotiations on a project-to-project basis. 
 
Due to its licensing strategy, CO2 Capsol will have relatively high margins and low capital intensity.  
 
In addition to its licensing strategy, CO2 Capsol will also purchase small-scale ‘test units’ with a capacity of 
around 700 tons CO2 per year. These test units will be leased out to emitters who are potential clients for 
full scale plants. The Company is targeting a monthly lease-income of around EUR 100,000-200,000 for each 
test unit, but the main purpose of these test units is to verify the Company’s technology with the client’s 
flue gas to reduce uncertainties and risks before a full-scale project. This will potentially be beneficial for 
the client’s decision-making and facilitate and speed up Final Investment Decisions. 
 
The Company’s vision is to be a global technology leader within Carbon Capture. 

5.3.4 Key projects  
 
The Company is involved in several projects, and is currently in discussions on multiple potential projects, 
from early-stage discussions to in-depth studies and evaluations. Most of these projects are covered by 
Non-Disclosure Agreements (NDA). Two projects have been made public. As of the date of this Information 
Document the Company has not yet entered into any commercial agreements for the use of its patented 
technology. Below is an overview over the key projects the Company is currently working with. 
 
Stockholm Exergy carbon capture projects (BECCS) 
Stockholm Exergi is the provider of power, district heating and cooling to the city of Stockholm, Sweden. In 
2018, it undertook a comprehensive study on carbon capture solutions for its biomass-fired combined heat 
and power plant at Värtaverket. CO2 Capsol’s technology was selected as the preferred solution in this 
study. Stockholm Exergy issued a front-end engineering and design (“FEED”) study to Petrofac in July 2021. 
This study will be the basis for a final investment decision (“FID”) in early 2023. This study is based on CO2 
Capsol EoP solution.  
 
Stockholm Exergi aims to complete the construction and start of operations during the second half of 2025. 
When operational, the plant has a potential of capturing 800,000 tons of carbon dioxide per year, which 
equals the (current) annual CO2 emissions from all traffic in Stockholm (Source: Stockholmexergi.se). 
 
The Stockholm project is currently in the FEED stage, meaning that the engineering design is prepared in 
order to control project expenses and thoroughly plan the project, in order to have a technical and 
commercial basis before final investment decision (FID) is made. The FEED stage is currently been carried 
out by Petrofac. 
 
Before FID is reached, the Company’s costs with the follow-up of the project are included as part of the run-
rate as presented in the cash flow statement. It is Petrofac that will, prior to FID, spend the hours and 
resources required to reach the FID stage. As such the agreement with Stockholm Exergi will not incur any 
major expenses for CO2 Capsol before the FID is reached, which is expected to be at the start of 2023.  
 
The commercial framework and terms of the Stockholm project will be part of the FID, as such the 
commercial terms for CO2 Capsol for this project will first be in place at the start of 2023 should the project 
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proceed. Any revenues for the Stockhom project will first be achieved if FID is made, and may be allocated 
over the construction period and on an ongoing basis over the lifetime of the project.  
 
The European Commission announced on 16 November 2021 that Stockholm Exergi's project for negative 
emissions - BECCS@STHLM (Bio Energy Carbon Capture and Storage) - has advanced to the last step in the 
selection process to receive support from the European Innovation Fund. 

 
Borg CO2 
This initiative forms part of joint industry effort to accelerate the green transition in Østfold, Norway, with 
CO2 Capsol is an active partner. 
 
The Borg CO2 project includes several industry partners, as well as the Port of Borg, and aims to capture 
and store emissions from industrial facilities located in the cities of Fredrikstad, Sarpborg and Halden. The 
combined industrial cluster is currently responsible for approximately 700,000 tonnes of CO2 emissions 
annually. After being captured, the CO2 will be liquified, shipped and eventually stored underneath the 
seabed of the North Sea. In April 2021, Borg CO2 announced an MOU with Northern Lights JV, who will 
provide shipping and storage of CO2 as a service provider for Borg CO2. 
 
Borg CO2 and its partners have completed a first feasibility study and are proceeding with an extended 
feasibility study (pre-FEED) to be completed by the end of 2021. 
 
The latest development in the project is that the cooperation will be converted into a limited company 
where CO2 Capsol is expected to receive an ownership share.  
 
CO2 Capsol is intended as technology supplier for one of the projects in the cluster, Norske Skog Saugbrugs 
AS. The current plan will be to test out and implement the Capsol EoP solution at the Norske Skog’s SC-
paper plant in Halden, Norway.  
 
Other projects 
CO2 Capsol is currently looking into more than 40 other projects with different sizes and maturities, and 
intends to license its technology to new customers in these projects in Scandinavia, Europe and globally. 

5.4 Principal markets  

5.4.1 Market introduction 
In broad terms, the addressable market for the Company is any industry with significant CO2 emissions, 
globally, where it would be feasible to install and operate a carbon capture plant. 
 
Due to several factors, including financing, political support, and execution skill there are some mature 
markets and sectors where the Company experiences high demand and interest. These markets include: 

• Nordic countries 
• Northern Europe 
• North America 
• Middle east 

 
The sectors include: 

• Steel production 
• Waste-to-Energy power plants 
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• Biomass power plants 
• Cement production 
• Hydrogen production 
• LNG production 
• Fossil Power plants 
• Process and Chemical Industry plants 

5.4.2 Market Development, Size and Growth Outlook 
Climate ambition has been growing steadily since the 2015 Paris Agreement, and civil society’s calls 
grown in number and volume, especially since the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s (IPCC’s) 
special report.  
 
There is an increasing recognition by governments of CCUS’s critical role in delivering net zero ambitions 
and CCUS often emerges as an essential part of the lowest cost pathway to net zero emissions. Government 
support around the world has grown to catalyse CCUS technologies and infrastructure through grants, 
subsidies, tax breaks.  
 
The market prices for emitting CO2 within the EU are steadily increasing. In 2017, the ETS prirces where 
below 10 EUR per ton, but in the following years they have continued to increase. As of 22 November 2021, 
the price per ton CO2 were EUR 69.9. 
 

EU ETS Prices and long-term expectations in ETS Prices 

 

Source: Bloomberg (ETS Prices as of 22.11.2021), IEA (forward looking prices per ton CO2 estimates) 
 
 
The current carbon capture market is relatively small, but has tremendous growth prospects. The UN’s 
climate targets for 2030 and 2050 are 760 and 5,600 million tons of CO2 captured, respectively. This 
translates to values of EUR 70bn and EUR 500+ bn (using the expected cost for carbon emissions as a proxy 
for market size). 
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In order to achieve the Paris Agreement climate targets to limit global warming to well below 2 degrees 
Celsius, preferably to 1.5 degrees Celsius, the global CCUS industry must grow by more than a factor of 100 
by the year 2050. This means building 70 to 100 facilities a year, up to 100,000 construction jobs and 
ongoing jobs for 30,000 to 40,000 operators and maintainers. The size of the global CCS industry could 
approach that of the world natural gas industry within a few decades creating a significant engine of growth, 
alongside renewable energy, in the new low emissions economy.  

 
The commitment to environmental targets entails a huge future demand for carbon capture solutions. It is 
expected that the market will grow quickly as the carbon capture value chain materialises and that the 
growth will further increase as the supply industry builds scale, reducing cost through scale-efficiency and 
standardisation. 
 
Power plants and industrial facilities accounts for more than 60% of global CO2 emissions, and emitters are 
actively seeking carbon capture solutions driven not only by environmental pressures but increasingly by 
commercial and regulatory necessity.  
 
As new projects are announced and developed, the range in the scale of facilities is becoming broader. 
Individual capture plants are larger, with facilities like Shell’s Rotterdam hydrogen project developing in the 
megaton range. At the same time, networks like the US's Summit Carbon Solutions are making smaller 
capture viable.  
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The recently approved Norcem Brevik project, part of the Langskip network in Norway, has CCUS expanding 
into a new sector – cement manufacturing. As a significant global emitter with limited decarbonisation 
options, the cement sector’s use of CCUS is an essential step towards net zero.  
 
Historically, CCUS projects tended to be vertically integrated, with a capture plant having its own dedicated 
downstream transport system. This favoured large-scale projects, where economies of scale made 
downstream costs reasonable. Recently, there has been a trend toward projects sharing CO2 transport and 
storage infrastructure: pipelines, shipping, port facilities, and storage wells. These ‘CCUS networks’ mean 
smaller projects can also benefit from economies of scale.  
 
One example of this is the Porthos network in Rotterdam which entered advanced development early in 
2021. A shared pipeline will transport liquid CO2 from four new blue hydrogen projects under development 
in the Port of Rotterdam region, to storage about 20 km offshore, beneath the North Sea.  

5.5 Competitive situation  
The market for carbon capture solutions is relatively new and still under development. The market 
landscape is dominated by large industrial conglomerates such as Mitsubishi Heavy Industries (MHI), Aker, 
Fluor, the Linde Group and Shell. 
 
The majority of the current market players are using amine or ammonia-based methods for carbon 
capturing. These methods are normally complex, highly energy intensive and use hazardous and reactive 
absorbents. It is believed that the Company has a competitive advantage within several business aspects as 
the Capsol EoP solution is less complex while retaining cost competitiveness and energy-efficiency with 
materially lower carbon capture costs than comparative post-combustion carbon capture technologies. 

5.6 Group organisation  
The Company is the parent company of Capsol-Eop AS, a Norwegian private limited company, and Capsol 
Energineering AB, a Swedish private limited company.   
 
Capsol Engineering AB has been dormant for several years. Capsol EoP AS is the holder of the Core Patent 
and has otherwise been without activity. 
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5.7 Technology and intellectual property  
The Group´s business includes a portfolio of technology, consisting of a combination of patents, confidential 
know-how and proprietary methods.   
 
The most notable technology is the Capsol EoP solution, a carbon capture technology using the non-toxic 
and environmentally friendly HPC (Hot Potassium Carbonate) solvent in conjunction with a patented energy 
recuperation process creating materially lower carbon capture costs than comparative post-combustion 
carbon capture technologies. The solution is based on the use of the technology patented under patent 
WO2017042163 “Method and plant for CO2 capture” (the "Core Patent"). 
 
In addition to the Core Patent, the Company is registered as holder of several additional patents (the 
“Additional Patents”), as further set out below:  

- WO2005059433 (A1). "Combined storage facility for CO2 and natural gas"  
- WO2006046875 (A1). "Method and plant for transport of rich gas"  
- WO2009108065 (A2). "Thermal power plant with CO2 sequestration" 
- NO329851 (B1). "Method and plant for purification of exhaust from diesel engines" 
- WO2012055715 (A2). "Heat integration in CO2 capture" 

 
The technologies behind the Additional Patents are not currently being used by the Group, and the business 
plan does not involve the use of these technologies. 

5.8 Dependency on contracts, patents and licenses.  
The Group is dependent upon its Capsol EoP technology and the Core Patent as set out above, in order to 
realise its business plan. 

5.9 Material contracts 
The Company has a portfolio of study and front-end engineering and design study contracts.  
The Company has not entered into any material contracts outside of the ordinary course of business. 
 

5.10 Legal and regulatory proceedings  
 
Neither the Company, nor any group company is, nor has been, during the course of the preceding 12 
months involved in any legal, governmental or arbitration proceedings which may have, or have had in the 
recent past, significant effects on the Company's and/or the Group’s financial position or profitability, and 
the Company is not aware of any such proceedings which are pending or threatened. 

5.11 Related party transactions  
Below follows a summary of the Company's related party transactions from the time of incorporation of 
the Company and to the date of this Information Document. 
 
All related party transactions are considered entered into on arm's length terms.  
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5.11.1 Consultancy agreements 
In 2020, the Company entered consultancy agreements with Melberg Partners AS and Tone Bekkestad AS, 
who both have provided certain services to the Company. Under the agreements, the respective 
consultants could require that the fees they were entitled to were settled in the form of shares in the 
Company, at a subscription price of NOK 1 per share. Fees to each of Melberg Partners AS and Tone 
Bekkestad AS were settled in shares in the Company in December 2020, and there are no outstanding fees 
accrued in the period after December 2020. Both agreements have been terminated.  
 
The Company entered into a new consultancy agreement with Melberg Partners AS in August 2021, under 
which Melberg Partners AS shall provide advisory services to the Company. The new agreement does not 
include a right for Melberg Partners AS to convert accrued fees to shares in the Company.  
 
Tone Bekkestad, the owner of Tone Bekkestad AS, has entered into an employment agreement with the 
Company.  

5.11.2 Sale of Sargas Inc. 
On 10 April 2019, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to sell all shares in Sargas Inc. to 
Einar Christen Lange for NOK 1. Sargas Inc. held no assets at the time and the sale was considered as 
practical to avoid costs associated with a potential corporate dissolution.    
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6 ORGANISATION, BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT  

6.1 Introduction  
The general meeting is the highest decision-making authority of the Company. All shareholders of the 
Company are entitled to attend and vote at general meetings and to table draft resolutions for items to be 
included on the agenda for a general meeting. 
 
The overall management of the Company is vested with its Board of Directors and its Management. In 
accordance with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for, among other things, supervising 
the general and day-to-day management of the Company's business ensuring proper organization, 
preparing plans and budgets for its activities ensuring that the Company's activities, accounts and assets 
management are subject to adequate controls and undertaking investigations necessary to perform its 
duties. 
 
The Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company's operations in 
accordance with Norwegian law and instructions set out by the Board of Directors. Among other 
responsibilities, the Company's Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”), is responsible for keeping the 
Company's accounts in accordance with existing Norwegian legislation and regulations and for managing 
the Company's assets in a responsible manner. In addition, the CEO must, according to Norwegian law, brief 
the Board of Directors about the Company's activities, financial position and operating results at a minimum 
of one time per month. 

6.2 Board of Directors  

6.2.1 General 
The Company's articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) does not regulate the number of board 
members elected by the Company's shareholders in an ordinary or extraordinary general meeting (as 
applicable).  
 
The names, positions and current term of office of the Board Members as of the date of this Information 
Document are set out in the table below, including their respective shareholdings in the Company. 
 

Name Position Served 
since 

Term 
expires 

Shares held Options 

Endre Ording Sund Chairperson 2018 2023 1,836,2002 100,000 

Claes Oskar Nygren Board 
member 

2015 2023 581,6833 100,000 

Einar Christen Lange Board 
member 

2015 2023 10,807,6464 100,000 

John Arne Ulvan Board 
member 

2021 2023 - 225,000 

Monika Inde Zsak Board 
member 

2021 2023 - 225,000 

 
2 Shares held through Oppkuven AS.  
3 Shares held through CCN Invest AB.  
4 Shares held through Rederiaktieselskapet Skrim AS and Engelsviken Fryseri AS.  
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The Company's registered business address, Madserud allé 2, 0274 Oslo, Norway, serves as business 
address for the Board Members in relation to their directorship in the Company. 

6.2.2 Brief biographies of the Board Members 
Set out below are brief biographies of members of the Board of Directors, including their managerial 
expertise and experience, in addition to an indication of any significant principal activities performed by 
them outside of the Company. 
 
Endre Ording Sund, chairperson 
Endre Ording Sund is an independent advisor in the finance, E&P and shipping sector. Ording Sund holds 
several board positions including Melberg Partners AS, and has previous board experience from Ferd, 
Euronav and Awilco. His working career includes CEO of the A. Wilhelmsen group, Head of Oil, Gas & 
Shipping related corporate finance business in SEB from 2002-2007, and several leading and founder roles 
within the private equity industry. Ording Sund is educated from the Royal Norwegian Navy Academy, the 
Norwegian School of Economy and Finance (BI) and Harvard Business School (PMD). 
 
Claes Oskar Nygren, board member 
Claes Oskar Nygren has an extensive international career with management positions within nuclear, HVDC 
(High Voltage Direct Current) and PFBC (Pressurized Fluidized Bed Combustor) technologies, including more 
than four decades with ABB. After leaving ABB in 2006, Nygren has been involved in pressurized combustion 
of coal and gas combined with the process of capturing carbon dioxide from flue gas. Nygren holds a MSc in 
Mechanical Engineering.  
 
Einar Christen Lange, board member 
Einar Christen Lange has extensive experience within the shipping industry and as an investor. Lange studied 
economics at Cambridge University   (X) and has a Cand Med. Degree from the University of Oslo. 
 
 
John Arne Ulvan, board member 
John Arne Ulvan has held numerous executive positions in a variety national, international, and listed 
companies, including Yara International ASA and Norsk Hydro ASA. From 2011 to 2020 he was the 
CEO/Group CEO of Felleskjøpet Agri SA. Ulvan has held several board positions and is currently a board 
member of Borregaard ASA. Ulvan has a MSc (Master of Science) in chemistry/chemical engineering from 
the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU/NTH). 
 
Monika Inde Zsak, board member 
Monika Inde Zsak has experience as an advisor within the energy and renewables sector. Inde Zsak is 
currently working at BKK as Head of Innovation & Venture and has previously worked as a senior manager 
for Accenture Strategy. She currently serves as a board member at several seed funds and startups in 
Norway, including Tibber AS. Inde Zsak has an MSc (Master of Science) in industrial engineering and a 
Master in Finance from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and University of New 
South Wales, Australia (UNSW). 
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6.3 Management  

6.3.1 General 
 
As of the date of this Information Document, the Company's Management consists of 3 individuals. The 
names of the members of the Management and their positions are presented in the table below, together 
with information on the numbers of shares and options held by each respective individual. 
 

Name Position Employed 
since 

Shares held Options 

Jan Kielland CEO 2018 5,172,6775 850 000 

Ingar Bergh  CFO 2021 - 750 000 

Tone Bekkestad  Marketing and 
communications 

manger 

2020 717,1186 590 000 

 
Reference is made to Section 6.4 “Share incentive program” for further description of a share incentive 
program applicable for the Management. 
 
The Company's registered business address, Madserud allé, 0274 Oslo, Norway, serves as business address 
for the members of the Company's Management in relation to their employment with the Company. 

6.3.2 Brief biographies of the members of the Management 
Set out below are brief biographies of members of the Management, including their managerial expertise 
and experience, in addition to an indication of any significant principal activities performed by them outside 
of the Company.  
 
Jan Kielland, CEO 
Jan Kielland has been the Company’s CEO since 2018. He has more than 40 years of experience from the 
energy section, holding both management and board positions. Prior to CO2 Capsol, Kielland has held 
positions at Shell International Petroleum Maatschappij, SAGA Petroleum ASA, DNO ASA, Lundin Petroleum, 
Sector Asset Management, Canamens Limited, Panoro Energy ASA and Clean Carbon Group ASA. Kielland 
holds an MSc (Master of Science) in petroleum engineering from the Norwegian University of Science and 
Technology (NTNU).  
 
Ingar Bergh, CFO  
Ingar Bergh has 15 years of experience as an advisor and executive in the energy and shipping sectors. Bergh 
has worked with, among others, Global LNG Services, Marsoft, DNV and Green Reefers. Bergh holds a MSc 
(Master of Science) in supply chain management from Cranfield School of Management and an MBA in 
Finance from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH). He is also a certified financial analyst. Bergh joined 
the Company in 2021.  
 
  

 
5  Shares held through Seoto AS.   
6  Shares held through Tone Bekkestad AS.  
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Tone Bekkestad, Marketing and communications manger 
Tone Bekkestad holds a MSc (Master of Science) in Meteorology from the University of Bergen and has 
extensive experience within the field of communication and media. Bekkestad has previously worked as an 
on-air meteorologist for TV4 Sweden for more than a decade, in addition to being a moderator and lecturer 
on the topic of solutions to climate change. Bekkestad joined the Company in 2020.  

6.4 Share incentive program 
The Company has implemented a share incentive program available for the Management and employees 
and a share incentive program the Board Members. The programs are administered by the Board of 
Directors. 
 
Share incentive program for Management and employees 
The share incentive program for Management and employees implies an authorisation for the Board of 
Directors to issue up to 4,250,000 options, with one option entitling the right to acquire one share. The 
strike price and other subscription terms shall be determined by the Board of Directors, in line with these 
guidelines: 

- The strike price shall be NOK 10 per share. Strike price for participants joining the program in the 
future will be adjusted to the share price at the time of issuing. 

- Vesting shall be over a period of three years with 25% vested year 1, 25% vested year 2 and 50% 
vested year 3.  

 
As of the date of this Information Document, 2,820,000 share options have been issued to selected 
employees and the Management, of which all are outstanding and not vested. 
 
Share incentive program for the Board Members 
The share incentive program for the Board Members implies an authorisation for the Board of Directors to 
issue up to 750,000 options, whereby one option shall entitle the right to acquire one share. The strike price 
shall be NOK 10 and vesting shall occur over a period of three years with 1/3 each year. 
 
As of the date of this Information Document, all 750,000 share options have been issued to the Board 
Members, of which all are outstanding and not vested.  

6.5 Benefits upon termination  
Jan Kielland (CEO) is entitled to severance payment equal to 12 months pay in the event his employment is 
terminated without cause and with immediate effect.  
 
Except for the above, no employees or members of the Management have entered into employment 
agreements which provide for any special benefits upon termination. None of the members of the Board 
of Directors will be entitled to any benefits upon termination of office. 

6.6 Corporate governance  
The Company is not subject to the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance of 17 October 
2018, as amended. The Company will comply with the Euronext Growth Oslo Rulesbook and the continuing 
obligations set out therein.  
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6.7 Employees 
As of the date of this Information Document, the Group has 7 full-time employees and 0 part-time 
employees. The table below shows the development in the number of full-time employees over the last 
two years: 
 

 2020 2019 
Number of full-time employees 2 0 
Number of part-time employees 0 0 
Total 2 0 

 
 

6.8 Conflicts of interests etc.   
No member of the Board of Directors or Management has, or have had, as applicable, during the last five 
years preceding the date of the Information Document:  
 

• any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences; 
 

• received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory 
authorities (including designated professional bodies) or was disqualified by a court from acting as 
a member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting 
in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company; or  

 
• been declared bankrupt or been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation in his 

or her capacity as a founder, member of the administrative body or supervisory body, director or 
senior manager of a company.  

 
To the Company's knowledge, there are currently no actual or potential conflicts of interest between the 
Company and the private interests or other duties of any of the Board Members and members of the 
Management, including any family relationships between such persons. 
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7 FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

7.1 Introduction and basis of preparation  
The Company's audited unconsolidated financial statements as of and for the six months period ending 30 
June 2021 (the “Interim Financial Statements”) have been prepared in accordance with NGAAP “Other 
companies” (Norwegian; “Øvrige foretak”) and the Accounting Act and is included as Appendix B.  
 
The Company's unaudited unconsolidated financial statements as of and for the 12 months period ending 
31 December 2019 and 2020 (the “Annual Financial Statements”) have been prepared in accordance with 
NRS 8 “Small enterprises” (Norwegian; “Små foretak”) and the Accounting Act and is included as Appendix 
C.  
 
The Company has reported its Annual Financial Statements in accordance with NRS 8 for “Small enterprises”, 
as the Company currently is classified as a "small enterprise" as defined by the Accounting Act section 1-6. 
NRS 8 (“Norwegian Accounting Standard 8”, Norwegian; “Norsk Regnskaps Standard 8”) is not intended to 
be used for listed companies, and NRS 8 has been applied by the Company historically due to its low activity. 
Had the Annual Financial Statements been prepared in accordance with the NGAAP for “Other companies” 
(Norwegian; “NGAAP for Øvrige foretak”), the Annual Financial Statements may have reflected other costs 
and a different financial position. The Annual Financial Statements are also not consolidated, as the 
Company has not been under a requirement to prepare consolidated figures, and as the Company’s 
Management and Board of Directors have considered the two subsidiaries to be insignificant given their 
low level of activities. The Company has further not been required to audit the Annual Financial Statements.  
 
With effect for the Interim Financial statements for 2021 the Company has voluntarily changed its financial 
reporting to comply with NGAAP for “Other companies” (Norwegian; “GRS Øvrige foretak”), which provides 
more appropriate accounting standards for a listed company. The Company will continue to report in 
accordance with NGAAP for “Other companies” following Admission. 
 
The Interim Financial statements have been audited by the Company’s statutory auditors. 
 
The Annual Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements are referred to herein as the 
"Financial Information". The Company presents the Financial Information in NOK (presentation currency). 
 
The Interim Financial Statements have been audited by RSM Norge AS. 

7.2 Summary of accounting policies and principles  
For information regarding accounting policies and principles, please refer to the notes in the Annual 
Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements. 

7.3 Selected financial figures 
Sections 7.3.1 to 7.3.2  sets out selected financial figures from the audited Interim Financial Information.  

7.3.1 Income statement  
The table below sets out selected data from the audited Interim Financial Statements.  
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(in NOK) Six months ending 30 June 
 

 2021 
(unconsolidated) 

Revenue 37,950 
Other operating income 16,458 
Total operating income 54,408 
  
Personnel expenses 2,261,504 
Depreciation of intangible assets 215,897 
Other operating expenses 2,860,296 
Total operating expenses 5,337,697 
  
Operating loss -5,283,289 
  
Net financial items -11,860 
  
Operating result before tax -5,295,149 
  
Net profit / loss  -5,295,149 

 

7.3.2 Balance sheet statement 
The table below sets out selected data from the audited Interim Financial Statements.  
 
(in NOK) As at 30 June 2021 
 2021 

(unconsolidated) 
ASSETS  
Fixed assets  
Intangible assets  
Patents, licenses, trademarks and similar 
rights 

7,124,603 

Total intangible assets 7,124,603 
  
Financial fixed assets  
Investments in subsidiaries 1 
Loan to group companies 44,143 
Total financial fixed assets 44,144 
  
Total fixed assets 7,168,747 
  
Current assets   
Receivables  
Account receivables - 
Other short-term receivables 285,385 
Total receivables 285,385 
  
Cash and bank deposits 32,655,421 
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Total current assets 32,940,806 
  
Total assets 40,109,553 
  
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
Equity  
Paid-up equity  
Share capital 35,651,739 
Share premium reserve 25,838,177 
Total paid-up equity 61,489,916 
  
Retained earnings  
Uncovered loss -23,108,748 
Total retained earnings -23,108,748 
  
Total equity 38,381,168 
  
Liabilities  
Current debt  
Trade creditors 378,839 
Public duties payable 345,152 
Liabilities to group companies 99,900 
Other current debt 904,494 
Total current debt 1,728,385 
  
Total liabilities  1,728,385 
  
Total equity and liabilities 40,109,553 
 

7.4 Changes in financial or trading position 
Other than the Private Placement II, as further set out in Section 9 “Corporate Information”, there has been 
no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Company since 30 June 2021 and up to the 
date of this Information Document. 

7.5 Working capital and cash flow 
The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Company at the date of this 
Information Document is sufficient for the Company's present requirements, for the period covering at 
least 12 months from the date of this Information Document. 
 
The Company is planning to scale up its organization in addition to purchasing its first test unit for carbon 
capture. The Company will have some income related to leasing out the test unit to clients, but on a net 
basis, the Company’s cash flows will be negative until it starts generating income from its first major carbon 
capture project (expected to be Stockholm Exergi). Income from Stockholm Exergi will occur at some point 
in time between Final Investment Decision (expected in Q1 2023) and start of operations (expected end of 
2025).  
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7.6 Projected profitability 
For the same reason as elaborated under section 7.5, the Company’s expected profitability is estimated to 
remain negative until at least 2024 

7.7 Financial calendar  
The first annual general meeting in the Company following the Admission is expected to be held in 
May/June 2022. 
 
Annual results for 2021 are expected to be announced on 10 March 2021.  
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8 DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY  

8.1 Dividends policy  
As of the date of this Information Document, the Company is in a growth phase and is not in a position to 
pay any dividends. Beyond the growth phase, it is the Company’s ambition to follow a dividend policy 
favourable to the shareholders. There can, however, be no assurance that in any given year a dividend will 
be proposed or declared, or if proposed or declared, that the dividend will be as contemplated by the policy.  
 
The Company has not paid any dividends on its Shares during the financial years 2019 and 2020. 
 
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Company’s Board 
of Directors will take into account legal restrictions, as set out in Section 8.2 ”Legal and contractual 
constraints on the distribution of dividends” below, the Company's capital requirements, including capital 
expenditure requirements, its financial condition, general business conditions and any restrictions that its 
borrowing arrangements or other contractual arrangements in place at the time of the dividend may place 
on its ability to pay dividends and the maintaining of appropriate financial flexibility. 

8.2 Legal and contractual constraints on the distribution of dividends 
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount in the future, the Board 
of Directors must take into account applicable legal restrictions, as set out in the Norwegian Private 
Companies Act, the Company's capital requirements, including capital expenditure requirements, its 
financial condition, general business conditions and any restrictions that its contractual arrangements in 
force at the time of the dividend may place on its ability to pay dividends and the maintenance of 
appropriate financial flexibility. Except in certain specific and limited circumstances set out in the 
Norwegian Private Companies Act, the amount of dividends paid may not exceed the amount 
recommended by the Board of Directors.  
 
Dividends may be paid in cash or in some instances in kind. The Norwegian Private Companies Act provides 
the following constraints on the distribution of dividends applicable to the Company:  
 

• Section 8-1 of the Norwegian Private Companies Act regulates what may be distributed as dividend, 
and provides that the Company may distribute dividends only to the extent that the Company after 
said distribution still has net assets to cover (i) the share capital and (ii) other restricted equity (i.e. 
the reserve for unrealized gains and the reserve for valuation of differences).  
 

• The calculation of the distributable equity shall be made on the basis of the balance sheet included 
in the approved annual accounts for the last financial year, provided, however, that the registered 
share capital as of the date of the resolution to distribute dividend shall be applied. Following the 
approval of the annual accounts for the last financial year, the general meeting may also authorize 
the Board of Directors to declare dividends on the basis of the Company's annual accounts. 
Dividends may also be resolved by the general meeting based on an interim balance sheet which 
has been prepared and audited in accordance with the provisions applying to the annual accounts 
and with a balance sheet date not further into the past than six months before the date of the 
general meeting's resolution.  
 

• Dividends can only be distributed to the extent that the Company's equity and liquidity following 
the distribution is considered sound, cf. section 3-4 of the Norwegian Private Companies Act. 
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Pursuant to the Norwegian Private Companies Act, the time when an entitlement to dividend arises 
depends on what was resolved by the general meeting when it resolved to issue new shares in the 
company. A subscriber of new shares in a Norwegian private limited company will normally be 
entitled to dividends from the time when the relevant share capital increase is registered with the 
Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. The Norwegian Private Companies Act does not 
provide for any time limit after which entitlement to dividends lapses. Subject to various exceptions, 
Norwegian law provides a limitation period of three years from the date on which an obligation is 
due. There are no dividend restrictions or specific procedures for non-Norwegian resident 
shareholders to claim dividends. 

8.3 Manner of dividend payments 
Any future payments of dividends on the Shares will be denominated in the currency of the bank account 
of the relevant shareholder and will be paid to the shareholders through DNB Bank ASA (the "VPS 
Registrar"). Shareholders registered in the VPS who have not supplied the VPS Registrar with details of their 
bank account, will not receive payment of dividends unless they register their bank account details with the 
VPS Registrar. The exchange rate(s) applied when denominating any future payments of dividends to the 
relevant shareholder's currency will be the VPS Registrar's exchange rate on the payment date. Dividends 
will be credited automatically to the VPS registered shareholders' accounts, or in lieu of such registered 
account, at the time when the shareholder has provided the VPS Registrar with their bank account details, 
without the need for shareholders to present documentation proving their ownership of the Shares. 
Shareholders' right to payment of dividend will lapse three years following the resolved payment date for 
those shareholders who have not registered their bank account details with the VPS Registrar within such 
date. Following the expiry of such date, the remaining, not distributed dividend will be returned from the 
VPS Registrar to the Company. 
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9 CORPORATE INFORMATION  

9.1 General company information 
The Company's legal name is CO2 Capsol AS and the Company's commercial name is CO2 Capsol. The 
Company is a private limited liability company (Norwegian; “aksjeselskap”), validly incorporated and 
existing under the laws of Norway and in accordance with the Norwegian Private Companies Act. The 
Company is registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises with business registration number 
914 620 457. The Company was incorporated on 8 December 2014.  
 
The Company's registered business address and principal place of business is Madserud allé 2, 0274 Oslo, 
Norway. The telephone number to the Company's principal offices is +47 23 13 14 20 and its main website 
is www.co2capsol.com. The Company’s website does not form part of this Information Document.  
 
The Shares are registered in book-entry form with VPS under ISIN NO 0010923121. The Company's register 
of shareholders in the VPS is administrated by the VPS Registrar, with registered business address Dronning 
Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, Norway. The Company's LEI-code is 549300WYBNH1T16J8V12. 

9.2 Legal structure  
The Company is the parent company of Capsol-Eop AS and Capsol Energineering AB. The Company has no 
other ownership interests. Please see Section 5.6 “Group organisation” for further information about 
regarding the organisational structure of the Group.   
 
The following table sets out brief information about the Company's subsidiaries at the date of this 
Information Document. 
 

Company name Registered office Activity Ownership 
interests 

Shareholder 

Capsol-EoP AS Madserud allé 2, 0274 Oslo, 
Norway 

Holder of the 
Core Patent, no 

other activity 

100% CO2 Capsol 

Capsol Engineering AB Pirvägen 21, 612 37 
Finspång, Sweden 

No activity 100% CO2 Capsol 

 

9.3 The private placements 

9.3.1 Details of the private placements and use of proceeds 
The Company has during the previous 12 months completed two private placements as detailed in the 
following. 
 
On 19 January 2021, an extraordinary general meeting of the Company resolved to carry out a private 
placement in the total amount of NOK 24,999,999.74, issuing 7,739,938 new shares at a subscription price 
of NOK 3.23 (“Private Placement I”). Private Placement I was registered in the Norwegian Register of 
Business Enterprises on 29 January 2021. 
 
On 11 October 2021, the Company resolved to carry out a private placement in the amount of NOK 
55,000,000, consisting of a primary share issue of NOK 39,999,993, as well as a secondary sale of shares of 
NOK 15,000,007, both with a share price of NOK 11 (“Private Placement II”). 
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The proceeds from the Private Placement I and Private Placement II are being used to fund the Company's 
growth plan, including investing in pilot test facilities, expanding business in new areas such as energy 
services and maritime sector and general corporate purposes. 

9.4 Share capital and share capital history 
As of the date of this Information Document, the Company's registered share capital is NOK 50,582,776 
divided into 50,582,776 Shares, each with a par value of NOK 1. All of the Shares have been created under 
the Norwegian Private Companies Act, and are validly issued and fully paid. 
 
 
The table below shows the development in the Company's share capital for the period covered by the 
Financial Information until the date of this Information Document. 
 

Date of 
registration 

Type of 
change 

Change in 
share 

capital 
(NOK) 

New share 
capital 
(NOK) 

Nominal 
value 
(NOK) 

New 
number of 
total issued 

shares 

Subscription 
price per 

share (NOK) 

26.07.2019 Debt conversion 14,201,876.00 14,231,876.00 1.00 14,231,876 1.00 

03.12.2019 
Private 

placement 
569,900.00 14,801,776.00 1.00 14,801,776 1.00 

09.07.2020 
Private 

placement 
756,336.00 15,588,112.00 1.00 15,588,122 1.00 

28.10.2020 Private 
placement 

900,000.00 16,488,112.00 1.00 16,488,112 1.00 

12.01.2021 Debt conversion 6,740,925.00 23,229,037.00 1.00 23,229,037 1.00 

29.01.2021 
Private 

placement 
7,739,938.00 30,968,975.00 1.00 30,968,975 3.23 

 
 

26.03.2021 

 
Option exercise 

 
2,946,130.00  

 
35,032,927.00 

 
 

1.00 

 
 

35,032,927 

 
3.23 

Option exercise 1,117,822.00 4.04 

07.06.2021 Option exercise 618,812.00 35,651,739.00 1.00 35,651,739 1.00 

11.11.2021 Private 
placement 

3,636,363.00 39,288,102.00 1.00 39,288,102 11.00 

11.11.2021 Option exercise 618,812.00 39,906,914.00 1.00 39,906,914 4.04 

 
 

26.11.2021 

 
Option exercise 

 
1,843,189.00 

 
 

44,090,077.00 

 
 

1.00 

 
 

44,090,077 

 
3.23 

Option exercise 2,339,974 4.04 

26.11.2021 
Warrant 
exercise 

5,000,000 49,090,077.00 1.00 49,090,077 1.00 

17.12.2021 Option exercise 1,492,699 50,582,776.00 1.00 50,582,776 4.04 
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9.5 Ownership structure  
As of 15 December 2021, the Company had 698 shareholders. The Company’s 20 largest shareholders as of 
the same date are set out in the table below:  

# Shareholder Number of Shares Per cent of share capital 

1 REDERIAKTIESELSKAPET SKRIM 9,522,665 19.40% 

2 SEOTO AS 5,172,677 10.54% 

3 CARBON TRANSITION INVESTMENT AS 3,636,363 7.41% 

4 MP PENSJON PK 2,166,800 4.41% 

5 T.D. VEEN AS 1,949,927 3.97% 

6 OPPKUVEN AS 1,836,200 3.74% 

7 NÆSS 1,434,815 2.92% 

8 Mathisen 1,410,578 2.87% 

9 TIGERSTADEN AS 1,392,806 2.84% 

10 Carnegie Investment Bank AB 1,365,082 2.78% 

11 REDBACK AS 1,349,769 2.75% 

12 MIDDELBORG INVEST AS 1,338,309 2.73% 

13 AS AUDLEY 1,279,352 2.61% 

14 MELBERG PARTNERS AS 1,197,171 2.44% 

15 DnB NOR Bank ASA 1,052,295 2.14% 

16 F2 FUNDS AS 899,399 1.83% 

17 ENGELSVIKEN FRYSERI AS 789,911 1.61% 

18 TONE BEKKESTAD AS 717,118 1.46% 

19 CAMECC AS 713,789 1.45% 

20 LITHINON AS 663,636 1.35% 

Total top 20 39,888,662 81.26% 

Other shareholders 9,201,415 18.74% 

Total 49,090,077 100% 
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As of the date of this Information Document, the Company does not hold any treasury shares.  
 
There are no arrangements known to the Company that may lead to a change of control in the Company. 

9.6 Authorisations to issue additional shares 

9.6.1 Authorisations to increase the share capital  
On 22 November 2021, the general meeting of the Company granted the Board of Directors an 
authorisation to increase the share capital with NOK 19,000,000.00, of which NOK 17,507,301.00 remains. 
The authorization may be used in connection with capital raisings to finance the Company's business, to 
strengthen the Company’s equity and secure a sound liquidity as well as to realize strategic and commercial 
goals. Furthermore, the authorization may be used in connection with the Company's share option program 
for employees and Management. The authorisation is valid until the next ordinary general meeting of the 
Company. 

9.6.2 Authorisations to acquire treasury shares 
As of the date of this Information Document, the Board of Directors does not hold any authorizations to 
acquire treasury Shares in the Company. 

9.7 Financial instruments and equity funding 
 
As of the date of this Information Document, the Company has issued an estimated total of 7,950,619 non-
exercised options corresponding to a total of 7,950,619 Shares in the Company if exercised, as further 
described in Section 9.7.1 - 0 below. Each such option gives the right to the issuance of one Share. 

9.7.1 Funding, options and warrants under an investment agreement 
On 23 December 2020, the Company entered an investment agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) 
with certain new investors and its existing shareholders to fund the increased activity of the Company. The 
Investment Agreement provided the Company with financing for current and future needs and further 
broadened the Company’s investor base. On this basis and at the time of entry, the terms of the Investment 
Agreement were considered favourable to the Company.   
 
The Investment Agreement had several elements, whereby the new investors made a capital contribution 
of NOK 25,000,000 to the Company in exchange for issuance of new shares. In addition, the new investors 
were provided with two subscriptions rights scheme (options). The existing shareholders were provided 
non-transferable warrants. These elements are further described below in no. 1 to 4:  
 

1. A capital contribution of NOK 25 million 
This capital contribution was concluded following a general meeting on 19 January 2021, providing a total 
share contribution of NOK 25 million to the Company by the Company issuing a total of 7 739 938 new 
shares at a subscription price of NOK 3.23 in exchange for cash to the new investors.  
 

2. Options - Subscription rights scheme 1  
The subscription rights scheme 1 provided the new investors with an unconditional right to subscribe for 
7,739,938 shares at a subscription price of NOK 3.23 per share. As of the date of this Information Document, 
a total of 2,950,619 shares have not been subscribed for (exercised) under this part of the Investment 
Agreement. The subscription rights in this scheme may be exercised at any time and consecutively by 
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written notice to the Company, but no later than 30 days following the Company entering into its first 
license agreement.  
 

3. Options - Subscription rights scheme 2 
The subscription rights scheme 2 provided the new investors with an unconditional right to subscribe for 
6,188,119 shares at a subscription price of NOK 4.04 per share. All subscription rights under this part of the 
Investment Agreement have been exercised during 2021. 
 
 

4. Warrants 
The issuance of 5,000,000 non-transferrable warrants (Norwegian; “frittstående tegningsretter”) to the 
existing shareholders entitling such shareholders to subscribe for and receive in total 5 000 000 new shares 
in the Company for a subscription of NOK 1 per share. All warrants have been exercised during 2021.  
 
In total, 2,950,619 subscription rights under subscription rights scheme 1 remain unexercised at the date 
of this Information document, corresponding to a total of 2,950,619 shares if exercised.  

9.7.2 Share incentive programme 
Furthermore, on 30 June 2021, the annual general meeting of the Company approved a share-based 
incentive program for employees and board members with a volume of up to 5,000,000 options (which 
would equal the same number of shares if the options are exercised). Of these, 3,570,000 options have 
been issued. The compensation program had its first effective date 1 July 2021. See further details in Section 
6.4 "Share incentive programme” and note 11 to the Interim Financial Statements. 
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9.7.3 Dilutive effect of non-exercised financial instruments  
The potential dilutive effect upon exercise of all non-exercised financial instruments currently in issue or to 
be issued, i.e. the Subscription rights scheme 1 and the share incentive programmes, and assuming that no 
other capital increases through the issuance of shares are carried out by the Company, is estimated to be 
around 15.7%. The table below displays an overview of the dilutive effect of the outstanding financial 
instruments. 
 

Overview of dilutive effect of non-exercised financial instruments in issue or to be issued 

 % of outstanding 
Shares7 

Shares upon 
exercise 

Subscription 
price (NOK) 

Expiration  

Subscription rights 
scheme 18 

5.8% 2,950,619 3.23 

At any time and no later 
than within 30 days 

following the Company 
entering into its first 
license agreement 

Share incentive 
programme9 

 
9.9% 

 
5,000,000 1010 

Vesting over a period of 
three years 

Total 15.7% 7,950,619   

 
Other than as set out above neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has issued any options, warrants, 
convertible loans or other instruments that would entitle a holder of any such instrument to subscribe for 
any shares in the Company or its subsidiaries. 

9.8 Financing  
As the Company is a precommercial company, it is financed through equity (see section 9.7 “Financial 
instruments and equity funding”) and has no bank financing or other interest-bearing facilities available. 

9.9 Lock-up arrangements 
As of the date of this Information Document, no lock-up arrangements have been entered into with respect 
to the Company’s Shares.  

9.10 Shareholder rights  
The Company has one class of shares in issue and all Shares provide equal rights in the Company, including 
the rights to any dividends. Each of the Company's shares carries one vote. The rights attached to the Shares 
are further described in Section 9.11 "The Articles of Association" and Section 9.12 "Certain aspects of 
Norwegian corporate law". 

 
7 Numbers in parenthesis marks dilutive effect following registration of the Upcoming Share Capital Increase.   
8 Subscription rights held by Q Capital AS (350,000 subscription rights), T.D. Veen AS (1,083,591 subscription 
rights), Middelborg AS (1,362,229 subscription rights) and Lighthouse Reef AS (154,799 subscription rights) 
9 Options held by the Board Members, the Management and selected employees. For an overview of the 
holding of the Board Members and the Management, please see the tables in Sections  6.2.1 and 6.3.1.  
10 Strike price for participants joining the program for Management and employees in the future will be 
adjusted to the share price at the time of issuing. 
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9.11 The Articles of Association  
The Articles of Association are enclosed in Appendix A to the Information Document. Below is a summary 
of provisions of the Articles of Association last updated on 10 December 2021. 

9.11.1 Objective of the company  
Pursuant to paragraph 3, the Company’s objective is to carry out industry and technology development, 
investment business, as well as to provide consultancy services.  

9.11.2 Share capital and par value  
Pursuant to paragraph 4, the Company’s share capital is NOK 50,582,776 divided into 50,582,776 shares, 
each with a nominal value of NOK 1. 

9.11.3 Restrictions on transfer of Shares 
The Articles of Association does not provide any restrictions on transfer of shares in the Company and 
paragraph 5 states that the Shares are freely transferable. Pursuant to paragraph 5 the Shares shall be 
registered with the VPS. 

9.11.4 Signatory right 
Pursuant to paragraph 6, the signatory right lies with two board members acting jointly.  

9.12 Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate law  

9.12.1  General meetings 
Through the general meeting, shareholders exercise supreme authority in a Norwegian company. In 
accordance with Norwegian law, the annual general meeting of shareholders is required to be held each 
year on or prior to 30 June. Norwegian law requires that a written notice of annual general meetings setting 
forth the time of, the venue for and the agenda of the meeting is sent to all shareholders with a known 
address no later than seven days before the annual general meeting of a Norwegian private limited liability 
company shall be held, unless the articles of association stipulate a longer deadline.   
 
A shareholder may vote at the general meeting either in person or by proxy (the proxy holder is appointed 
at their own discretion). All of the Company's shareholders who are registered in the shareholders' register 
kept and maintained with VPS as of the date of the general meeting, or who otherwise have reported and 
documented ownership of shares in the Company, are entitled to participate at general meetings, without 
any requirement of pre-registration.   
 
Apart from the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held if the 
Board of Directors considers it necessary. An extraordinary general meeting of shareholders shall also be 
convened if, in order to discuss a specified matter, the auditor or shareholders representing at least 10% of 
the share capital demands such in writing. The requirements for notice and admission to the annual general 
meeting also apply to extraordinary general meetings. 

9.12.2 Voting rights  
Each Share carries one vote. In general, decisions shareholders are entitled to make under Norwegian law 
or the articles of association may be made by a simple majority of the votes cast. In the case of elections or 
appointments (e.g. to the board of directors), the person(s) who receive(s) the greatest number of votes 
cast is elected. However, as required under Norwegian law, certain decisions, including resolutions to waive 
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preferential rights to subscribe for shares in connection with any share issue in the Company, to approve a 
merger or demerger of the Company, to amend the Articles of Association, to authorize an increase or 
reduction of the share capital, to authorize an issuance of convertible loans or warrants by the Company or 
to authorize the Board of Directors to purchase Shares and hold them as treasury shares or to dissolve the 
Company, must receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast as well as 
at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting in question. Moreover, 
Norwegian law requires that certain decisions, i.e. decisions that have the effect of substantially altering 
the rights and preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval by the holders of such 
shares or class of shares as well as the majority required for amending the Articles of Association.  
 
Decisions that (i) would reduce the rights of some or all of the Company's shareholders in respect of 
dividend payments or other rights to assets or (ii) restrict the transferability of the Shares, require that at 
least 90% of the share capital represented at the general meeting in question vote in favour of the 
resolution, as well as the majority required for amending the Articles of Association.   
 
In general, only a shareholder registered in VPS is entitled to vote for such Shares. Beneficial owners of the 
Shares that are registered in the name of a nominee are generally not entitled to vote under Norwegian 
law, nor is any person who is designated in the VPS register as the holder of such Shares as nominees.  
 
There are no quorum requirements that apply to the general meetings. 

9.12.3 Additional issuances and preferential rights 
If the Company issues any new Shares, including bonus share issues, the Company's Articles of Association 
must be amended, which requires the same vote as other amendments to the Articles of Association. In 
addition, under Norwegian law, the Company's shareholders have a preferential right to subscribe for new 
Shares issued by the Company. The preferential rights may be deviated from by a resolution in the general 
meeting passed with the same vote required to amend the Articles of Association. A deviation of the 
shareholders' preferential rights in respect of bonus issues requires the approval of all outstanding Shares.   
 
The general meeting may, by the same vote as is required for amending the Articles of Association, 
authorize the Board of Directors to issue new Shares, and to deviate from the preferential rights of 
shareholders in connection with such issuances. Such authorization may be effective for a maximum of two 
years, and the nominal value of the Shares to be issued may not exceed 50% of the registered par share 
capital when the authorisation is registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.  
 
Under Norwegian law, the Company may increase its share capital by a bonus share issue, subject to 
approval by the Company's shareholders, by transfer from the Company's distributable equity or from the 
Company's share premium reserve and thus the share capital increase does not require any payment of a 
subscription price by the shareholders. Any bonus issues may be affected either by issuing new shares to 
the Company's existing shareholders or by increasing the nominal value of the Company's outstanding 
Shares.  
 
Issuance of new Shares to shareholders who are citizens or residents of the United States and other 
jurisdictions upon the exercise of preferential rights may require the Company to file a registration 
statement or prospectus in the United States under United States securities laws or in such other 
jurisdictions under the laws of such jurisdictions. Should the Company in such a situation decide not to file 
a registration statement or prospectus, the Company's U.S. shareholders and shareholders in such other 
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jurisdictions may not be able to exercise their preferential rights. To the extent that shareholders are not 
able to exercise their rights to subscribe for new shares, the value of their subscription rights will be lost 
and such shareholders' proportional ownership interests in the Company will be reduced.  

9.12.4 Minority rights  
Norwegian law sets forth a number of protections for minority shareholders of the Company, including, but 
not limited to, those described in this section 9.12.4 and the description of general meetings as set out 
above. Any of the Company's shareholders may petition Norwegian courts to have a decision of the Board 
of Directors or the Company's shareholders made at the general meeting declared invalid on the grounds 
that it unreasonably favours certain shareholders or third parties to the detriment of other shareholders or 
the Company itself. The Company's shareholders may also petition the courts to dissolve the Company as a 
result of such decisions to the extent particularly strong reasons are considered by the court to make 
necessary dissolution of the Company.  
 
Minority shareholders holding 10% or more of the Company's share capital have a right to demand in 
writing that the Board of Directors convenes an extraordinary general meeting to discuss or resolve specific 
matters. In addition, any of the Company's shareholders may in writing demand that the Company place an 
item on the agenda for any general meeting as long as the Company is notified in time for such item to be 
included in the notice of the meeting. If the notice has been issued when such a written demand is 
presented, a renewed notice must be issued if the deadline for issuing notice of the general meeting has 
not expired. 

9.12.5 Rights of redemption and repurchase of shares 
The share capital of the Company may be reduced by reducing the nominal value of the Shares or by 
cancelling Shares. Such a decision requires the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of 
votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a general meeting. Redemption of 
individual Shares requires the consent of the holders of the Shares to be redeemed.  
 
The Company may purchase its own Shares provided that the Board of Directors has been granted an 
authorization to do so by a general meeting with the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate 
number of votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. The aggregate 
nominal value of treasury shares so acquired, and held by the Company must not lead to the share capital, 
with deduction of the aggregate nominal of the holding of own shares, being less than the minimum allowed 
share capital of NOK 30,000, and treasury shares may only be acquired if the Company's distributable equity, 
according to the latest adopted balance sheet, exceeds the consideration to be paid for the shares. The 
authorization by the general meeting of the Company's shareholders cannot be granted for a period 
exceeding two years. 

9.12.6 Shareholder vote on certain reorganisations  
A decision of the Company's shareholders to merge with another company or to demerge requires a 
resolution by the general meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least 
two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting. A merger plan, or demerger plan signed 
by the Board of Directors along with certain other required documentation, would have to be sent to all of 
the Company's shareholders at least two weeks prior to the general meeting resolving on the matter. 
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9.12.7 Liability of board members  
Board Members owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and its shareholders. Such fiduciary duty requires 
that the Board Members act in the best interests of the Company when exercising their functions and 
exercise a general duty of loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task is to safeguard the 
interests of the Company.  
 
Board Members may each be held liable for any damage they negligently or wilfully cause the Company. 
Norwegian law permits the general meeting to discharge any such person from liability, but such discharge 
is not binding on the Company if substantially correct and complete information was not provided at the 
general meeting passing upon the matter. If a resolution to discharge the Board Members from liability or 
not to pursue claims against such a person has been passed by a general meeting with a smaller majority 
than that required to amend the articles of association, shareholders representing more than 10% of the 
share capital or, if there are more than 100 shareholders, more than 10% of the shareholders may pursue 
the claim on the Company's behalf and in its name. The cost of any such action is not the Company's 
responsibility but can be recovered from any proceeds the Company receives as a result of the action. If the 
decision to discharge any of the Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims against the Board 
Members is made by such a majority as is necessary to amend the articles of association, the minority 
shareholders of the Company cannot pursue such claim in the Company's name. 

9.12.8 Indemnification of board members  
Neither Norwegian law nor the Articles of Association contains any provision concerning indemnification 
by the Company of the Board of Directors. The Company is permitted to purchase insurance for the Board 
Members against certain liabilities that they may incur in their capacity as such. 

9.12.9 Distribution of asset on liquidation  
Under Norwegian law, the Company may be wound-up by a resolution of the Company's shareholders at 
the general meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the 
share capital represented at the meeting. In the event of liquidation, the Shares rank equally in the event 
of a return on capital. 

9.13 Takeover bids and forced transfers of shares 
The Company is not subject to the takeover regulations, applicable only to companies with shares listed on 
a Norwegian regulated market, set out in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, or otherwise.  
 
The Shares are, however, subject to the provisions on compulsory transfer of shares as set out in the 
Norwegian Private Companies Act. If a Norwegian private limited liability company alone, or through 
subsidiaries, owns 9/10 or more of the shares in the subsidiary, and may exercise a corresponding part of 
the votes that may be cast in the general meeting, the board of directors of the parent company may resolve 
that the parent company shall take over the remaining shares in the company. Each of the other 
shareholders in the subsidiary have the right to require the parent company to take over the shares. The 
parent company shall give the shareholders a redemption offer pursuant to the provisions of the Norwegian 
Private Companies Act. The redemption amount will in the absence of agreement or acceptance of the offer 
be fixed by a discretionary valuation. 
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10 NORWEGIAN TAXATION  
The following is a brief summary of certain Norwegian tax considerations relevant to the acquisition, 
ownership and disposition of Shares by holders that are residents of Norway for purposes of Norwegian 
taxation (“resident or Norwegian shareholders”) and holders that are not residents of Norway for such 
purposes (“non-resident or foreign shareholders”). The summary is based on applicable Norwegian laws, 
rules and regulations as of the date of this Information Document. Such laws, rules and regulations may be 
subject to changes after this date, possibly on a retroactive basis for the same tax year.  
 
The summary is of a general nature and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax 
considerations that may be relevant and does not address taxation in any other jurisdiction than Norway. 
 
The summary does not concern tax issues for the Company and the summary only focuses on the 
shareholder categories explicitly mentioned below. Special rules may apply to shareholders who are 
considered transparent entities for tax purposes, for shareholders holding shares through a Norwegian 
permanent establishment and for shareholders that have ceased or cease to be resident in Norway for tax 
purposes. Each shareholder, and specifically non-resident shareholders, should consult with and rely upon 
their own tax advisers to determine their particular tax consequences. 

10.1 Taxation of dividends 

10.1.1 Resident corporate shareholders 
Dividends distributed from the Company to Norwegian corporate shareholders (i.e. limited liability 
companies and certain similar entities) are generally exempt from tax pursuant to the participation 
exemption method (Norwegian; "Fritaksmetoden"). Only 3% of such dividends are taxable as general 
income at a current rate of 22%, implying that dividends distributed from the Company to resident 
corporate shareholders are effectively taxed at a rate of 0.66%. 

10.1.2 Resident individual shareholders 
Dividends distributed from the Company to Norwegian individual shareholders are taxed as ordinary 
income at a current rate of 22% to the extent the dividends exceed a statutory tax-free allowance 
(Norwegian; "Skjermingsfradrag"). The tax basis is upward adjusted with a factor of 1.44 before taxation, 
implying that dividends exceeding the tax-free allowance are effectively taxed at a rate of 31.68%. 
 
The tax-free allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis for each individual shareholder on the basis 
of the cost price of each of the Shares multiplied by a risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is 
based on the effective rate of interest on treasury bills (Norwegian; “Statskasseveksler”) with three months 
maturity plus 0.5 percentage points, after tax. The risk-free interest rate is determined by the Norwegian 
Directorate of Taxes each January for the preceding income year. For 2020 the rate was 0.6%. 
 
The tax-free allowance is calculated for each calendar year and is allocated solely to Norwegian individual 
shareholders holding Shares at the expiration of the relevant calendar year. Norwegian individual 
shareholders who transfer Shares will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated allowance related to 
the year of transfer. Any part of the calculated tax-free allowance one year exceeding the dividend 
distributed on the Share ("unused allowance") may be carried forward and set off against future dividends 
received on (or gains upon realization of, see below) the same Share. Any unused allowance will also be 
added to the basis of computation of the tax-free allowance on the same Share the following year. 
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The Shares will not qualify for Norwegian share saving accounts (Norwegian; “Aksjesparekonto”) for 
Norwegian individual shareholders as the Shares are listed on Euronext Growth (and not Oslo Børs ASA). 

10.1.3 Non-resident shareholders 
Dividends distributed from the Company to non-resident shareholders are in general subject to Norwegian 
withholding tax at a rate of currently 25%, unless otherwise provided for in an applicable tax treaty or the 
recipient is a corporate shareholder tax resident within the European Economic Area (the EEA) (ref. Section 
10.1.4 below for more information on the EEA exemption).  
 
Norway has concluded tax treaties with approximately 90 countries. In most tax treaties the withholding 
tax rate is reduced to 15% or lower.  
 
A distributing company will generally deduct withholding tax at the applicable rate when dividends are paid 
to a foreign shareholder registered directly as shareholder with the account operator (VPS). Nominee 
registered shares will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25% unless the nominee has obtained 
approval from the Norwegian Directorate of Taxes for the dividend to be subject to a lower withholding tax 
rate. For access to such reduced withholding tax rates for nominee registered shares, foreign corporate and 
individual shareholders must document, to the nominee or VPS, their entitlement to a reduced withholding 
tax rate by (i) obtaining a certificate of residence issued by the tax authorities in their country of residence, 
confirming that the shareholder is resident in that country under that country’s domestic law as well as 
under the applicable tax treaty, and (ii) providing a confirmation from the shareholder that the shareholder 
is the beneficial owner of the dividend. Foreign corporate shareholders must also present either (i) an 
approved withholding tax refund application or (ii) an approval from the Norwegian tax authorities 
confirming that the recipient is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate or a withholding tax exemption.  
 
Foreign individual and corporate shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in 
an applicable tax treaty may apply to the Central Tax Office for Foreign Tax Affairs for a refund of the excess 
withholding tax deducted. The same applies for foreign corporate shareholders that have suffered 
withholding tax although qualifying for the Norwegian participation exemption. 
 
If foreign shareholders are engaged in business activities in Norway, and their Shares are effectively 
connected with such business activities, dividends distributed on their Shares will generally be subject to 
the same taxation as that of Norwegian shareholders. 
 
The shareholder's country of residence may grant tax credit for any Norwegian withholding tax imposed on 
the dividend. Non-resident shareholders should consult their own advisers regarding the availability of 
treaty benefits in respect of dividend payments, including the possibility of effectively claiming refund of 
withholding tax. 

10.1.4 Shareholders tax resident within the EEA 
Dividends distributed from the Company to individual shareholders tax-resident within the EEA are upon 
request entitled to a deductible allowance (Norwegian; "Skjermingsfradrag", ref. Section 10.1.2). The 
shareholder shall pay the lesser amount of (i) withholding tax according to the rate in the applicable tax 
treaty or (ii) withholding tax at 25% after deduction of the tax-free allowance, in which case any excess 
allowance may be carried forward. 
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Dividends distributed from the Company to corporate shareholders tax resident within the EEA are exempt 
from Norwegian withholding tax, provided the shareholder is the beneficial owner of the Shares and 
genuinely established and performs genuine economic business activities within the EEA. 
 
The documentation requirements in Section 10.1.3 apply. 

10.2 Taxation upon realization of shares 

10.2.1 Resident corporate shareholders 
For Norwegian corporate shareholders, capital gains upon realization of Shares are generally exempt from 
tax. Losses are not deductible. 

10.2.2 Resident individual Shareholders 
For Norwegian individual shareholders, capital gains upon realization of Shares are taxable as general 
income in the year of realization and have a corresponding right to deduct losses that arise upon such 
realization. The tax liability applies irrespective of time of ownership and the number of Shares realized.  
 
The tax rate for general income is currently 22%. The tax basis is adjusted upward with a factor of 1.44 
before taxation/deduction, implying an effective taxation at a rate of 31.68%. 
 
The taxable gain or loss is calculated per Share as the difference between the consideration received and 
the cost price of the Share, including any costs incurred upon acquisition or realization of the Share. Any 
unused allowance on a Share (see Section 10.1.2) may be set off against capital gains on the same Share 
but will not lead to or increase a deductible loss, i.e. any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon 
realization of the Share will be annulled. Any unused allowance on one Share may not be set of against 
gains on other Shares. 
 
If a shareholder disposes of Shares acquired at different times, the Shares that were first acquired will be 
deemed as first disposed (the FIFO-principle) when calculating a taxable gain or loss.  
 
Special exit tax rules apply for resident individual shareholders that cease to be tax resident in Norway. 

10.2.3 Non-resident shareholders 
Gains from realization of Shares by non-resident shareholders will not be subject to taxation in Norway 
unless (i) the Shares are effectively connected with business activities carried out or managed in Norway, 
or (ii) the Shares are held by an individual who has been a resident of Norway for tax purposes with 
unsettled/postponed exit tax. 

10.3 Net wealth tax 
Norwegian corporate shareholders are not subject to net wealth tax. Norwegian personal shareholders are 
generally subject to net wealth taxation at a current rate of 0.85% on net wealth exceeding NOK 1,500,000. 
The general rule is that the Shares will be included in the net wealth with 55% of their proportionate share 
of the Company's calculated wealth tax value as of 1 January in the income year.  
 
Non-resident shareholders are generally not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax, unless the Shares are 
held in connection with business activities carried out or managed from Norway. 
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10.4 Stamp duty / transfer tax etc. 
Norway does not impose any stamp duty or transfer tax on the transfer or issuance of Shares. 
 
There is no VAT on transfer of shares and Norway does not impose any inheritance tax. An heir takes over 
the tax positions, including the input values, based on principles of continuity. 

10.5 The Company’s responsibility for the withholding of taxes 
The Company is responsible for and shall deduct, report and pay to the Norwegian tax authorities any 
applicable withholding tax on dividends to foreign shareholders. 
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11 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

11.1 Admission to Euronext Growth   
On 6 December 2021, the Company applied for admission to trading of its Shares on Euronext Growth. The 
first day of trading on Euronext Growth is expected to be on or around 20 December 2021.  
 
Neither the Company nor any other entity of the Group have securities listed on any stock exchange or 
regulated marketplace. 

11.2 Information sourced from third parties and expert opinions 
In this Information Document, certain information has been sourced from third parties. The Company 
confirms that where information has been sourced from a third party, such information has been accurately 
reproduced and that as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by 
that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or 
misleading. Where information sourced from third parties has been presented, the source of such 
information has been identified. 
 
The Company confirms that no statement or report attributed to a person as an expert is included in this 
Information Document. 

11.3 Independent auditors  
The Company's auditor is RSM Norge AS, with business registration number 982 316 588 and registered 
business address at Filipstad brygge 1, 0252 Oslo, Norway. The partners of RSM Norge AS are members of 
The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants (Norwegian; “Den Norske Revisorforeningen”).  
 
RSM Norge AS has been the Company’s independent auditor since 18 August 2021. Prior to this, the 
Company’s independent auditor was UNIC Revisjon AS, with business registration number 999 327 885 
registered business address at Olaf Helsets vei 6, 0694 Oslo, Norway.  

11.4 Advisors  
The Company has engaged SpareBank 1 Markets AS (business registration number 992 999 101, and 
registered business address at Olav V's gate 5, 0161 Oslo, Norway) as its Euronext Growth Advisor. 
 
CMS Kluge Advokatfirma AS (business registration number 913 296 117, and registered business address at  
Olav Kyrres gate 21, 4005 Stavanger, Norway) is acting as Norwegian legal counsel to the Company. 
 
Advokatfirmaet Grette AS (business registration number 820 203 542, and registered business address at 
Filipstad brygge 2, 0252 Oslo, Norway) is acting as Norwegian legal counsel to the Manager. 
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12 DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY  
When used in this Information Document, the following defined terms shall have the following meaning: 
 

Accounting Act The Norwegian Accounting Act of 17 July 1998 no 56 

Admission The admission to trading of the Company’s shares on Euronext 
Growth

Annual Financial Statements 

The Company's unaudited unconsolidated financial statements for 
the financial years ending 31 December 2019 and 2020, as 
attached hereto as Appendix C and Appendix D, respectively 
 

Articles of Association Articles of Association of the Company as of 10 December 2021 

Board of Directors The board of directors of the Company 

Board Members The members of the Board of Directors 

CCUS Carbon capture, utilisation and storage 

CEO The chief executive officer of the Company 

Company CO2 Capsol AS 

CO2 Capsol The Company 

EEA European Economic Area 

EoP End of Pipe 

EPC Engineering, procurement and construction  

EU European Union 

Euronext Growth The multilateral trading facility for equity instruments operated by 
Oslo Børs ASA.

Euronext Growth Admission Rules Content requirements for Information Documents for Euronext 
Growth.

Euronext Growth Advisor Sparebank 1 Markets AS 

EU Prospectus Regulation 

Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the 
Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when 
securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a 
regulated market, as amended, and as implemented in Norway 
 

EUR The basic monetary unit of the European Monetary Union 

FEED Front-end engineering and design 

FID Final investment decision 

Financial Information The Interim Financial Statements and Annual Financial Statements
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GRS General Accepted Accounting Principles (Norwegian; God 
Regnskapsskikk)

GAAP General Accepted Accounting Principles 

Group  The Company together with its subsidiaries 

Information Document This Information Document, dated 17 December 2021 

Interim Financial Statements The Company's audited unconsolidated interim financial 
statements as of and for the six months period ending 30 June 
2021, as attached hereto as Appendix B 
 

Investment Agreement The investment agreement entered by the Company on 23 
December 2020, as further described in Section 9.7.1.  

Joint Bookrunners SpareBank 1 Markets AS and Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 
(publ), NorwegianOslo Branch

LEI Legal Entity Identifier 

Management The members of the Company's executive management 

Manager SpareBank 1 Markets AS 

NGAAP The Norwegian General Accepted Accounting Principles 

NOK Norwegian kroner 

Norwegian Private Companies Act The Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June 
1997 no. 44 (as amended)

Norwegian Securities Trading Act The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 28 June 2007 no. 75 
(Norwegian; “verdipapirhandelloven”)

NRS Norwegian Accounting Standard (Norwegian; “Norsk 
Regnskapsstandard”)

Private Placement I and Private 
Placement II 

As defined in Section 9.3 
 

Share(s) The shares of the Company, each with a nominal value of NOK 1.

TRL Technology Readiness Level 

United States United States of America 

VPS The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (Norwegian; 
“Verdipapirsentralen”)

VPS Registrar DNB Bank ASA 

WtE Waste to Energy 
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VEDTEKTER 

CO2 Capsol AS 

Org. nr. 914 620 457 

 

10. desember 2021 

 

§ 1 Selskapets foretaksnavn er CO2 Capsol AS. 
 
§ 2 Selskapets forretningskontor er i Oslo. 
 
§ 3 Selskapets formål er: å drive industri- og teknologiutvikling, investeringsvirksomhet samt yte 

konsulenttjenester.  
 
§ 4 Selskapets aksjekapital er NOK 50.582.776 fordelt på 50.582.776 aksjer, hver pålydende NOK 1. 
 
§ 5 Selskapets aksjer er fritt omsettelige, uten forkjøpsrett for eksisterende aksjeeiere og uten krav til 

styresamtykke ved aksjeoverdragelser. Selskapets aksjer er registrert i VPS.  
 
§ 6 Selskapet tegnes av to styremedlemmer i fellesskap.  
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Note 1.1-30.6.2021 1.1-30.6.2020 1.1-31.12.2020
Amounts in Norwegian Kroner

Operating income and  expenses

Revenue 2 37 950 - 241 250
Other operating income 16 458 - -
Total operating income 54 408 - 241 250

Personnel expenses 3 2 261 504 - 1 466 118
Depreciation of intangible assets 6 215 897 - -
Other operating expenses 3, 4 2 860 296 511 869 9 272 216
Total operating expenses 5 337 697 511 869 10 738 334

Operating loss -5 283 289 -511 869 -10 497 084

Financial income and expenses
Other interest income 1 - 33
Other financial income - 344 781
Other interest expenses 1 486 - -
Other financial expenses 10 375 1 003 3 032
Net financial items -11 860 -659 -2 218

Loss before tax -5 295 149 -512 528 -10 499 302

Tax expense 5 - - -

Net loss -5 295 149 -512 528 -10 499 302

Brought forward:
Loss brought forward 5 295 149 512 528 10 499 302
Net loss brought forward -5 295 149 -512 528 -10 499 302

INCOME STATEMENT
Co2 Capsol AS
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Note 30.06.2021 30.06.2020 31.12.2020
Amounts in Norwegian kroner

ASSETS

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Patents, licences, trademarks and similar rights 6 7 124 603 7 340 500 7 340 500
Total intangible assets 7 124 603 7 340 500 7 340 500

Financial fixed assets
Investments in subsidiaries 7 1 1 1
Loan to group companies 44 143 34 768 34 768
Total financial fixed assets 44 144 34 769 34 769

Total fixed assets 7 168 747 7 375 269 7 375 269

Current assets

Debtors
Accounts receivables - - 49 050
Other short-term receivables 285 385 - 3 513 965
Total receivables 285 385 - 3 563 015

Cash and bank deposits 8 32 655 421 476 007 532 713

Total current assets 32 940 806 476 007 4 095 728

Total assets 40 109 553 7 851 276 11 470 997

BALANCE SHEET
Co2 Capsol AS
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Note 30.06.2021 30.06.2020 31.12.2020
Amounts in Norwegian kroner

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Paid-up equity
Share capital 9 35 651 739 14 801 776 23 229 037
Share premium reserve 25 838 177 - -
Total paid-up equity 61 489 916 14 801 776 23 229 037

Retained earnings
Uncovered loss 23 108 748- 7 826 824- 17 813 597-
Total retained earnings 23 108 748- 7 826 824- 17 813 597-

Total equity 10 38 381 168 6 974 952 5 415 440

Liabilities

Current debt
Trade creditors 378 839 - 3 971 402
Public duties payable 345 152 - -
Liabilities to group companies 99 900 99 900 99 900
Other current debt 904 494 776 424 1 984 255
Total current debt 1 728 385 876 324 6 055 557

Total liabilities 1 728 385 876 324 6 055 557

Total equity and liabilities 40 109 553 7 851 276 11 470 997

BALANCE SHEET
Co2 Capsol AS

Oslo, 9 November 2021
The Board of Co2 Capsol AS

Endre Ording Sund                     Claes Oskar Nygren                        Einar Christen Lange
                    chairman of the board                member of the board                        member of the board

John Arne Ulvan                        Monika Inde Zsak                                 Jan Kielland
                           member of the board               member of the board                       managing director
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Note 1.1-30.6.2021 1.1-30.6.2020 1.1-31.12.2020
Amounts in Norwegian Kroner

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax 5 295 150- 512 528- 10 499 302-
Ordinary depreciation 6 215 897 - -
Change in accounts receivable 49 050 - 49 050-
Change in accounts payable 3 592 563- 129 459- 3 841 943
Change in other accrual items 2 484 596 901 732 1 404 401-
Net cash from operating activities 6 138 171- 259 745 8 110 810-

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCINGOPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from share issue 10 38 260 879 - 8 427 261
Net cash from financing activities 38 260 879 - 8 427 261

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 32 122 708 259 745 316 451
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 532 713 216 262 216 262
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 8 32 655 421 476 007 532 713

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Co2 Capsol AS
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Note 1 Accounting Principles

The interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian
Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting principles in Norway. All amounts are
stated in Norwegian Kroner.

Consolidation
The company has chosen not to consolidate the subsidiaries due to the exception in
the accounting act which states that consolidated financial statements can be left out if all of the
company's subsidiaries, both individually and collectively, are of insignificant importance,
cf. § 3-2.

Use of estimates
The management has used estimates and assumptions that have affected assets, liabilities,
incomes, expenses and information on potential liabilities in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in Norway.

Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the rate applicable on the transaction date.
Monetary items in a foreign currency are translated into NOK using the exchange rate
applicable on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured at their
historical price expressed in a foreign currency are translated into NOK using the exchange
rate applicable on the transaction date. Non-monetary items that are measured at their
fair value expressed in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate.

Revenue recognition
Income from sale of services are recognised at fair value of the consideration, net after
deduction of VAT and discounts. Revenues from the sale of services are recognised in the
income statement for the period when the service is performed.

Income tax
The tax expense consists of the tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax
assets are calculated on all differences between the book value and tax value of assets and
liabilities. Deferred tax is calculated as 22 percent of temporary differences and the
tax effect of tax losses carried forward.. Deferred tax assets are recorded in the balance sheet
when it is more likely than not that the tax assets will be utilized. Taxes payable and deferred
 taxes are recognised directly in equity to the extent that they relate to equity transactions.

Balance sheet classification
Current assets and short term liabilities consist of receivables and payables falling due
within one year, and items related to the inventory cycle. Other balance sheet items are
classified as fixed assets / long term liabilities.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

Current assets are valued at the lower of cost and fair value. Short term liabilities are
recognized at nominal value.

Fixed assets are valued at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses. Long term liabilities
are recognised at nominal value.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Intangible
assets consist mainly of patents. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The amortisation expense is recognised in the income statement. Gains or
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

Investment in subsidiaries and associates
The cost method is applied for investments in subsidiaries and associates. The cost price is
increased when funds are added through capital increases or when group contributions are
made to subsidiaries. Dividends received are initially taken to income. Dividends exceeding
the portion of retained equity after the purchase are reflected as a reduction in purchase
cost. Dividend/group contribution from subsidiaries are reflected in the same year as the
subsidiary makes a provision for the amount. Dividend from other companies are reflected as
financial income when it has been approved.

Impairment of intangible assets and investments
Impairment tests are carried out if there is an indication that the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds the estimated recoverable amount. The test is performed on the lowest level of
fixed assets at which independent cashflows can be identified. If the carrying amount is
higher than both the fair value less cost to sell and value in use (net present value of future
use/ownership), the asset is written down to the highest of fair value less cost to sell and the
value in use. Previous impairment charges, except writedown of goodwill, are reversed in
later periods if the conditions causing the write-down are no longer present.

Accounts receivable and other receivables
Accounts receivable and other current receivables are recorded in the balance sheet at
nominal value less provisions for doubtful accounts. Provisions for doubtful accounts are
based on an individual assessment of the different receivables. For the remaining receivables,
a general provision is estimated based on expected loss.

Pensions
The company has a pension scheme for all employees, assessed as contribution plan. The
pension scheme is financed through payments to an insurance company. After the
contribution has been made the company has no further commitment to pay. The
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

contribution is recognised as payroll expenses.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents
includes cash, bank deposits and other short term, highly liquid investments with maturities
of three months or less.

Share based compensation
The company provides incentives to employees in the form of equity-settled share-based
instruments.  Equity-settled share options are measured at fair value at grant date and
recognised in the income statement under salary and personnel expenses over the period in
which the final right of the options vest. The balancing item is recognised directly in equity.
On initial recognition of share options, the number of options expected to vest at expiry is
estimated. Subsequently the estimated number of vested options is revised for changes, so
that the total recognition is based on the actual number of vested options. The fair value of
the options granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes model.

Warrants (subscription rights)
The company has issued share subscription rights to its owners. These rights are issued
without payment for the right to subscribe shares under the terms of the contract. When the
share subscription rights are exercised, the consideration for the shares and the share issue
are recognised.

7



Note 2 Revenue

1.1-30.6.2021 1.1-30.6.2020 1.1-31.12.2020

Revenue 37 950 - 241 250
Other operating income 16 458 - -
Total revenue 54 408 - 241 250

Recorded revenue regards consultant services.
Other operating income is related to sublease of offices.

Note 3 Salary costs and benefits, remuneration to the CEO, board and auditor

Salary costs 1.1-30.6.2021 1.1-30.6.2020 1.1-31.12.2020

Salaries 1 761 392 - 1 203 986
Employment tax 303 648 - 181 176
Other benefits 196 464 - 80 956
Total 2 261 504 - 1 466 118

Number of full time equivalent employees 5 - 0,7

The Company had no employees under contract until second half 2020. The operation was managed by
personnel on consultant contracts. With increasing business and market interest, the company
started building an organization second half 2020.

On 1 July 2021 the company implemented a share based compensation program for its employees. See note 11
for information about the incentive scheme.

Pension cost
The company is liable to maintain an occupational pension scheme under the Mandatory Occupational
Pension Act. The company's pension scheme satisfy the requirements of this act. The pension cost is included
under "other benefits" in the table above.

Remuneration to Board of Directors and Chief Operating Officer (CEO)
Salary: 1.1-30.6.2021 1.1-30.6.2020 1.1-31.12.2020

Chief executive officer 707 863 - 740 000
Board of Directors 387 500 - 212 500
Total 1 095 363 - 952 500

The CEO participates in the company's share based compensation program approved by the annual general
meeting held 30 June 2021. The CEO also partakes in the company's bonus program.

The CEO's agreement has 6 months mutual termination. The company has the right to terminate the
agreement with immediate effect, should the company decide to use this right, the CEO is entitled to
12 months severance pay.
Board members have no agreements for severance pay.

Auditor
The company has had no expenses for audit of financial statements in 2020 and as of 30.06 2021.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

Note 4 Other operating expenses

1.1-30.6.2021 1.1-30.6.2020 1.1-31.12.2020

Rent 179 042 200 000
Professional fees 2 236 847 8 048 579
Other general and administrative expenses 444 407 511 869 1 023 637
Total 2 860 296 511 869 9 272 216

The company has during second half of 2020 and first half of 2021 hired people and in-sourced tasks that
previously have been performed by external consultants, reducing professional fees paid.

The company has entered into a rental contract with a landlord lasting until 15.04.2023 with an annual
rent of NOK 529 000.

Note 5 Income tax expense and deferred tax

This period's tax expense 1.1-30.6.2021 1.1-30.6.2020 1.1-31.12.2020

Payable tax - - -
Changes in deferred tax - - -
Tax expense on ordinary profit/loss - - -

Taxable income:

Ordinary result before tax -5 295 149 -512 528 -10 499 302
Permanent differences -3 271 122 0 0
Taxable income -8 566 271 -512 528 -10 499 302

Payable tax in the balance:

Payable tax on this period's result - - -
Total payable tax in the balance - - -

Deferred tax/deferred tax assets

The tax effect on temporary differences and tax loss carried forward that has formed the basis for
deferred tax and deferred tax assets, specified on type of temporary differences:

30.06.2021 30.06.2020 31.12.2020

Temporary differences - - -
Tax loss carried forward -25 610 228 -7 057 183 -17 043 957
Total -25 610 228 -7 057 183 -17 043 957
22% deferred tax asset -5 634 250 -1 552 580 -3 749 671
Not recognised 5 634 250 1 552 580 3 749 671
Deferred tax asset recognised - - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

Note 6 Intangible assets

30.06.2021 30.06.2020 31.12.2020

Capitalized  acquisition of technology
and patent rights at start of period

7 340 500 7 340 500 7 340 500

Additions - - -
Accumulated depreciation -215 897 - -
Total 7 124 603 7 340 500 7 340 500

Depreciation in the year 215 897 - -

Straight line None None
Estimated useful life 17 years

Depreciations started in 2021 as the technology was considered ready for intended use.

The company holds patented technology for large-scale CO2 capture in power production and
other industrial applications.

Expected future uses and revenues are assumed to justify the value of capitalized cost price.
Patent costs are expensed on an ongoing basis. Patent costs are also covered for patents held by
subsidiaries.

Note 7 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries (office)

Ownership
and voting
interest

Acquisition
cost Book value

Share of
Equity
30.06.2021

Share of
Results in
2021

CapSol-EoP AS (Oslo) 100 % 750 000 1 -44 503 -9 735
Capsol Engineering AB* (Sweden) 100 % 10 000 - 197 974 -73 864

Total 760 000 1

*The financial year for Capsol Engineering AB is ending 31 August. The disclosed figures are denominated in SEK
and regards the period 1.9.2019-31.8.2020.

Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The are no operational
activities in the subsidiaries and the investments have in previous years been written down from NOK 760 000
by NOK 759 999 to NOK 1 because the fair value is assessed to be lower than cost.

The company is exempt from the requirement to prepare consoldiadted financial statements because the
subsidiaries are insignificant, both separately and in aggregate, cf. Norwegian Accounting Act section 3-2
and section 3-8.

Depreciation plan
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

Note 8 Cash
30.06.2021 30.06.2020 31.12.2020

Restricted bank deposit for payment of employees' tax deduction 242 898 - -

Note 9 Shareholders

The share capital consists of 35 651 739 shares with a nominal value of NOK 1, total NOK 35 651 739,
and is fully paid. Each share provides one vote. The company has one class of shares.

Shareholders as of 30.06.2021:

No of shares Share of total
Rederiaktieselskapet Skrim 8 336 832 23,38 %
Seoto AS 3 744 500 10,50 %
Oppkuven AS 1 836 200 5,15 %
MP Pensjon PK 1 547 988 4,34 %
Middelborg Invest AS 1 362 229 3,82 %
Carnegie Investment Bank AB 1 300 082 3,65 %
Redback AS 1 213 406 3,40 %
Næss, Odd 1 200 000 3,37 %
Mathisen, Øystein 1 177 190 3,30 %
Einar Lange AS 1 150 000 3,23 %
T.D Veen AS 1 083 591 3,04 %
Melberg Partners AS 985 125 2,76 %
Tigerstaden AS 708 847 1,99 %
Engelsviken Fryseri AS 650 000 1,82 %
AS Audley 619 195 1,74 %
Camecc AS 617 790 1,73 %
Tone Bekkestad AS 590 100 1,66 %
Avanza Bank AB 574 963 1,61 %
Nordberg, Tore 536 439 1,50 %
Kristian Falnes AS 430 000 1,21 %
Investors with less than 1,21% 5 987 262 16,79 %
Total 35 651 739 100,00 %

The company's shares are VPS-registered and listed on Euronext NOTC from 17 February 2021.

Numbers of shares and share subscription rights held by the board and managing director, inclusive shares held
by companies controlled by the representatives:

Person Position Shares Subscription rights*
Endre Ording Sund chairman of the board 1 836 200 160 618
Claes Oskar Nygren member of the board 549 213 118 217
Einar Christen Lange member of the board 10 136 832 2 436 086
John Arne Ulvan member of the board -
Monika Inde Zsak member of the board -
Jan Kielland managing director 3 744 500 805 995

* Warants as decribed in note 10.
Rights under the management icentive scheme are not included, cf. note 11.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

Note 10 Equity capital

Share Share Net loss Total
capital premium equity

Equity at 01.01.2020 14 801 776 - -7 314 296 7 487 480
Result H1 2020 - - -512 528 -512 528
Equity at 30.06.2020 14 801 776 - -7 826 824 6 974 952

Equity at 01.07.2020 14 801 776 - -7 826 824 6 974 952
Result H2 2020 - - -9 986 774 -9 986 774
Share issue 8 427 261 - - 8 427 261
Equity at 31.12.2020 23 229 037 - -17 813 598 5 415 440

Equity at 01.01.2021 23 229 037 - -17 813 598 5 415 439
Result H1 2021 - - -5 295 150 -5 295 150
Share issue 30.01 7 739 938 17 260 062 - 25 000 000
Share issue 31.03 4 063 952 9 968 049 - 14 032 001
Share issue 14.06 618 812 1 881 188 - 2 500 000
Transaction cost - -3 271 122 - -3 271 122
30.06.2021 35 651 739 25 838 177 -23 108 748 38 381 168

Funding package
In December 2020 the company agreed with certain investors (the “Investors”) on a funding package with the
following elements:

1. A capital contribution of NOK 25 000 000. The transaction was concluded following a shareholder meeting on
19 January 2021, providing a total share contribution of NOK 25 000 000 by issuing a total of 7 739 938 new
shares at a subscription price of NOK 3,23 in exchange for cash.

2. Subscription rights scheme 1 that provided the investors with an unconditional right to subscribe for 7 739 938
shares at a subscription price of NOK 3,23 per share. As of 30 June 2021, a total of 4 793 808 shares have not been
subscribed for (exercised) under this funding package. The subscription rights scheme 1 must be exercised by
written notice to the Company within 30 days following the Company entering into its first license agreement.

3. Subscription rights scheme 2 that provided the investors with an unconditional right to subscribe for 6 188 119
shares at a subscription price of NOK 4,04 per share. As of 30 June 2021, a total of 4 451 485 shares had not been
subscribed (exercised) under this funding package. The subscription rights scheme 2 must be exercised by written
notice to the Company by the end of 2021.

4. 5 000 000 warrants with a strike price of NOK 1,00 per share were granted to existing shareholders in
connection with the conclusion of the funding package.

In total, the subscription rights scheme 1 and subscription rights scheme 2 corresponded to a total of 13 928 057
shares if exercised. Of these 9 245 293 were remaining as of 30 June 2021.

In total, warrants and subscription rights corresponding to 14 245 293 shares, if subscribed (exercised), are
outstanding per 30 June 2021.

In October 2021, one investor holding subscription rights under scheme 2 exercised 618 812 rights, reducing the
granted unexercised subscription rights under scheme 1 to 3 832 673. See note 11 below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

Share capital increase
On 30 June 2021 the general meeting resolved to grant the board power of attorney to increase the company’s
share capital by up to NOK 17 828 860 in one or more tranches.

Furthermore, on 30 June 2021, the Annual General Meeting approved a share-based compensation program for
employees and board members with a volume of up to 5 000 000 options (which would equal the same number
of shares if options are exercised), of these 750 000 have now been allocated to members of the board and
additional 2 820 000 options have been allocated to management, while 1 430 000 options have not been
allocated. The compensation program had its first effectiv date 1 July 2021, see note 11.

Shares, subscription rights, warrants, options Total Issued Exercise price Proceeds if
exercised

Issued shares as of 30 June 2021 35 651 739 35 651 739
Subscription rights scheme 1 4 793 808 4 793 808 3,23 15 484 000
Subscription rights scheme 2 * 4 451 485 4 451 485 4,04 17 983 999
Owner warrants ** 5 000 000 5 000 000 1,00 5 000 000
Share-based compensation *** 5 000 000 0 0
Total as of 30 June 2021 54 897 032 49 897 032 38 467 999

Issued shares as of 30 June 2021 amounted to 35 651 739 shares. With additional shares potentially subscribed
for under Subscription rights scheme 1 and Subscription rights scheme 2, warrants and shares potentially
exercised under the Share based compensation arrangement, the total number of shares potentially issued would
amount to 54 897 032 shares as of 30 June 2021. In October 2021 the company also issued 3 636 363 shares (not
via warrants or subscription rights), as such the potentially issued number of shares as of 9 November 2021 is
58 533 395 shares.

*) In October 2021, 618 812 shares were subscribed for under Subscription rights scheme 2, as such remaining
subscription rights not subscribed for (exercised) under this scheme were equivalent to a total of
3 832 673 shares as of 9 November 2021.

**) These subscription rights to shares were subscribed for in the private placement in October 2021, and
reflects the same number of shares to be issued in October 2021.

***) On 1 July 2021, 3 570 000 options out of the 5 000 000 share based compensation program have been
 granted to board and employees. 1 430 000 options have not yet been allocated.

Note 11 Subsequent events

Share based compensation scheme
On 1 July 2021 the following share based compensation scheme was granted to members of the Board of
Directors and certain members of management:

Terms:
Terms for CO2 Capsol Board members:
Strike NOK 10, vesting 3 years with 1/3 each year.

Terms for CO2 Capsol employees:
Strike price shall be 10 NOK for current management and employees (per 30.06.2021). Strike price for participants
added to the incentive program in the future will be adjusted relative to share price at the time of issuing.
Vesting shall be over a period of 3 years with 25% vested year 1, 25% vested year 2 and 50% vested year 3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 30.06.2021
Co2 Capsol AS

Options issued under the share based compensation scheme:

Person (Board Members) Allocation Strike price Issue date Vesting
Endre Ording Sund (Chairman) 100 000 10 1.07.2021 3 years with 1/3 each year
Einar Chr. Lange 100 000 10 1.07.2022 3 years with 1/3 each year
Claes Oskar Nygren 100 000 10 1.07.2023 3 years with 1/3 each year
John Arne Ulvan 225 000 10 1.07.2024 3 years with 1/3 each year
Monika Inde Zsak 225 000 10 1.07.2025 3 years with 1/3 each year
Total Board 750 000

Total Employees (average weighted) 2 820 000 10,51 01.07.2021 -
18.10.2021

Total issued to Board and Employees 3 570 000
Not allocated options in program 1 430 000
Total for the program 5 000 000

Private placement and exercise of warrants
On 12 October 2021 the Company completed a private placement of NOK 55 million at a subscription price of
NOK 11. The private placement consisted of a NOK 40 million cash based equity issue and NOK 15 million in
secondary shares. The subscription price per share was NOK 11, number of issued shares was 3 636 363, each
with a par value of NOK 1.

The total gross share proceeds to the company was NOK 39 999 993, of which NOK 3 636 363 is share capital
(increasing share capital from NOK 35 651 739 to NOK 39 288 102) and NOK 36 363 630 being recognised as
share premium. The shares where subscribed by Carbon Transition ASA. The existing shareholders right of
first refusal under Section 10-4 of the Norwegian Companies Act was waived.

In connection with this private placement in October 2021, all 5 million warrants approved for issue on
19 January 2021 were exercised. A total of 5 million shares will be issued in exchange for a NOK 5 million cash
contribution upon completion of the exercise of the warrants.

Subscription rights scheme 2
In a Board meeting on 19 October 2021 the share capital was increased with NOK 618 812 from
NOK 39 288 102 to NOK 39 906 914, by issuing 618 812 new shares, each with a par value of NOK 1, due to the
exercise by certain investors of the same number of subscription rights under Subscription rights scheme 2.

Table setting out subscription rights, warrants and options not exercised per 30 June 2021
and per 9 November 2021, respectively:

Proceeds if
Issued as of Issued as of Exercise price exercised
30.06.2021 09.11.2021 09.11.2021

Subscription rights scheme 1 4 793 808 4 793 808 3,23 15 484 000
Subscription rights scheme 2 4 451 485 3 832 673 4,04 15 483 999
Owner warrants* 5 000 000 0 1,00 0
Share-based compensation** 0 3 570 000 10,51 37 520 700
Total 14 245 293 12 196 481 68 488 699

*) These Owner warrants were committed to be executed by investors in relation to the share issue in
 October 2021. However, the process is not fully completed as per 9 November 2021.  Proceeds when the
process is fully completed will amount to gross NOK 5 mill, net to the company will be less fees.
**) Subsequent to 30 June 2021, 3 570 000 options of the 5 000 000 Share-based compensation program have
been allocated to board and employees. 1 430 000 options have not been allocated.

3 years with 25% year 1, 25%
year 2 and 50% year 3
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